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Wednesday, March 31, 2021
--- On commencing at 9:33 a.m.

DR. ELSAYED:  Good morning, everyone.  The Ontario Energy Board sits today on the matter of an application filed by Upper Canada Transmission Inc., operating as NextBridge Infrastructure LP.  This application has been assigned case number EB-2020-0150.  This is the third and final day of the oral hearing.  My name is Emad Elsayed, and I'm presiding over this proceeding.  With me on the Panel are my fellow Commissioners, Ms. Allison Duff and Mr. Pankaj Sardana.

Any preliminary matters?
Preliminary Matters:


MR. GARNER:  Yes, Mr. Chair.  It's Mark Garner from VECC.  I wonder if I can just raise one issue, and it's one I'm very reticent to raise, but the Procedural Order No. 3 sets the argument date for intervenors and Staff on April 23rd, which is a Friday, and I'm seeking your indulgence to be able to file my argument on April 27th, which is the following Tuesday, and the reasons are that the -- April 23rd is actually a hearing date with OPG, and the following Monday is actually a conference with Enbridge Gas that I'm involved in.  That in and of itself wouldn't have been a problem.  My problem -- and I do apologize.  It is my problem -- is that I am -- find myself beginning on Monday next week in three consecutive settlement conferences over the next three weeks, and so I'm finding even my weekends have sort of disappeared.  I've managed to talk to some of the intervenors and haven't received any objection.  I haven't been able to talk to all of them, and nor have I been able to raise it with my friend at NextBridge, and I'm not seeking for you to make any ruling at this moment.

What I'm actually asking is before the day has ended, with Mr. Vegh having the opportunity maybe to speak with his client about how that might affect them, so we could return to my request before day's end and deal with it.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  Mr. Vegh, do you have any immediate comments to make about this?

MR. VEGH:  I'd like to speak to my client.  This is the first I've heard of it, so we could be back after the morning break to see if we have a position on this.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  And following that, yes, the Panel will also need to discuss this and get back to you.  Thank you.  Any other preliminary matters?

MS. GIRVAN:  Sorry, Mr. Chair.  It's Julie Girvan.  I would just like to support Mr. Garner's request.  I'm in the same position.  Thank you.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  Thanks, Ms. Girvan.

Anything else?  Okay.  With that I'll turn it over to Mr. Murray for OEB Staff cross-examination.
NEXTBRIDGE - PANEL 1, resumed
Jennifer Tidmarsh,
Becky Walding,
Carly Weinstein,
Dan Mayers,
Matt Raffenberg,
Kara Schwaebe,
Chris Russo; Previously Affirmed.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Murray:

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you, Mr. Chair, and good morning, witness panel.  I see a lot of familiar faces from the leave-to-construct application.  For those who don't know me, my name is Lawren Murray, and I'm counsel to Board Staff.

Before starting our discussion here today, I'd ask that Staff's revised compendium be marked as an exhibit, and it will be marked as Exhibit K3.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K3.1:  STAFF COMPENDIUM FOR NEXTBRIDGE PANEL 1.

MR. MURRAY:  Now, I would like to start the discussion on the issue of construction costs that are included with this application.  Now, do I have it right that NextBridge is asking OEB to conduct a prudence review of the 737 million dollar construction amount as part of this application?  Is that correct?  Are you asking to conduct a prudence review of the 737?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.  Can you not hear me?  Sorry, can you hear me?

MR. MURRAY:  I can now, yeah.

THE REPORTER:  I can hear you, yeah.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So my answer was, yes, that's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  And you would agree that in such a review there is no presumption of prudence on the part of NextBridge's costs?

MR. VEGH:  Just a second, Mr. Murray.  I suggest that -- we're talking about presumption of prudence.  That's a legal doctrine, and I think that that's something that's better left to legal argument than cross-examination of witnesses.

MR. MURRAY:  I can move on.  Would you agree that the onus on NextBridge to establish that the costs in this application are prudent?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So, yes, NextBridge has provided information as part of its application in its quarterly reports and previous materials to try to show prudency of the costs for the construction costs.

MR. MURRAY:  Can I ask we pull up tab 12 of Staff's compendium, or page 75 of the PDF, which is an excerpt of the Board's February 2019 decision granting NextBridge leave to construct.  And I would like to scroll down to the last paragraph on that page, and I'm going to read from the last four lines, on the far right, and starts, starting:

"This decision and order should not be taken as accepting the level of costs of NextBridge EWT project for the purposes of recovery for ratepayers.  NextBridge will have to demonstrate the prudence of its costs when seeking to recover those costs in the future."

So I think we can agree that the OEB panel hearing the leave-to-construct application did not make a finding that NextBridge's 737 number is prudent, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So our understanding, Mr. Murray, is that this last line is -- here we are now in our rate case, and we are looking to demonstrate our prudence of those costs here and now in our rate case.

MR. MURRAY:  And you would agree that if you look to the first line of that paragraph, the earlier panel expressed concerns at the level of NextBridge's costs in the leave-to-construct application, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's what the line says, Mr. Murray.

MR. MURRAY:  Now, Ms. Tidmarsh, I understand from your discussions with Mr. Garner from yesterday that one of the items that NextBridge relies upon to support its claim of prudence is the quarterly reports; is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  Can you please explain to me what in these reports in your view demonstrates the prudence of NextBridge's construction costs?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, I can do that.  So our quarterly reports that were previously monthly reports that we've been reporting since 2013 contain all of the granular details on NextBridge's costs on -- and its activities.  So for example, it includes a large green table -- I think you're going to bring it up at one point.  It's in your compendium -- that shows what NextBridge is currently spending, what it forecasts, any of those variances, and in the body of those reports are very, very detailed information about why those variances have occurred, and explanations on every single detail of construction that happens.

Also as part of these reports there is a risk analysis table, and so you can see at the back there is a risk analysis of all of the risks that NextBridge has faced during construction and has continued to manage its costs to the 737 as part -- even in spite of any of those risks.

So I believe these quarterly reports contain quite a lot of information about NextBridge's prudent management of the 737 construction costs.

MS. WALDING:  And additionally in our application we also laid out many of the same details of what was spent in each of the categories of each line item of our costs as well.

MR. MURRAY:  And if the Panel Commissioners hearing this matter concludes that that information does not lead them to a finding that the 737 number is prudent, do you have any other new evidence that was not filed in the leave-to-construct application which they can turn to on this issue?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, Mr. Murray, maybe I'm not understanding about the question, but from what I understand and from just our previous questions here, this leave to -- this rate-case hearing is to help establish the prudence of those costs and to test our evidence and to go through our evidence and go through the quarterly reports and our application to seek clarifications and questions at this time on the prudency of that 737.

So at this point in time, I would not know or speculate what type of additional evidence that the panel might require to understand how NextBridge has been managing this project prudently.

MR. MURRAY:  Perhaps I'll rephrase.  So there is the quarterly report.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, we have five quarterly reports.

MR. MURRAY:  And NextBridge established the 737 number is prudent.  What other evidence should they look to to try and establish that 737 number as prudent?

MR. VEGH:  Mr. Murray, perhaps I can be of assistance here.  This application has hundreds of thousands of pages.  Many of them deal with the construction costs and the prudence of those costs.  There have been several interrogatories on this issue.  There have now been three days of cross-examination.

So we would say the entire record has information and evidence respecting prudence, and we're not going to go through each page of evidence and each answer to an interrogatory, and each answer in cross-examination over the last three days.  That's what this hearing is about, and NextBridge has filed evidence to support its case, part of which is to demonstrate the prudence of the costs.

MR. MURRAY:  I'll move on.  Can we agree that one of the factors NextBridge relies upon in support of its construction cost claim is the benchmark report prepared by Charles River and Associates?

MS. TIDMARSH:  NextBridge has filed, as part of the Chapter 2 filing requirements, a benchmarking cost analysis by Charles River and Associates.  This benchmarking cost analysis, as required by the filing guidelines, demonstrates that NextBridge's costs are reasonable and as per the guidelines, and that we included it here to help support the reasonableness of our costs.

Mr. Russo, did you want to add to this?

MR. RUSSO:  No.  Again, the benchmarking report demonstrates, at least in my view, that the costs are reasonable when compared to other projects of similar complexity and type, and is in fact lower than many of them.

MR. MURRAY:  Perhaps we can pull up a copy of that report, which is tab 14 of Staff's compendium.   I'll call this the 2020 report, because there was also a 2018 report filed in the leave to construct.

So with respect to this 2020 report, can we agree this benchmarking is intended to provide the OEB with a basis for assessing the relative reasonableness of the projected costs in the EWT line?

MR. RUSSO:  That's a reasonable description.

MR. MURRAY:  In order to do this report, Mr. Russo, you sought to identify other transmission lines that you could compare to the EWT, correct?

MR. RUSSO:  I did.

MR. MURRAY:  And in this benchmarking report, you're comparing transmission lines that were built at different times, correct?

MR. RUSSO:  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  And in some cases, had different voltages, correct?

MR. RUSSO:  That's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  And that were built in different provinces?

MR. RUSSO:  That's correct, yes, although the WECC study did incorporate some data from the U.S. and states as well.  But generally, yes, you're correct.

MR. MURRAY:  You would agree with me that provinces had different labour markets?

MR. RUSSO:  I would agree with that as a general matter, although not offering testimony on the relative labour economics in different provinces.

MR. MURRAY:  You would also agree with me that provinces have different laws regulating environmental assessments?

MR. RUSSO:  I would agree with that as a general matter.

MR. MURRAY:  And provinces would have different work place safety laws?

MR. RUSSO:  I think we're going beyond the scope of my testimony.  There may be others on the panel who can speak to that, but I'm not offering testimony on the provincial differences in labour laws.

MR. MURRAY:  To the extent you don't appreciate the differences that different provinces may have, why are you comparing the Ontario line to ones in different provinces?

MR. RUSSO:  To expand the number of benchmarks available that we had.  In a perfect world, if there were projects identical to the East-West Tie constructed in Ontario, I would have used those.

Large capital projects like transmission lines tend to be fairly unique.  There were two projects in particular, the Bruce-to-Milton line and the Niagara reinforcement, that I looked at.  But the best available benchmarks for technical characteristics happen to be elsewhere, including Alberta, B.C., and other areas.

MR. MURRAY:  You would agree with me that B.C. and Alberta have different regulatory regimes in terms of how they evaluate transmission lines, how they're approved, how they're posited?

MR. RUSSO:  I'm certain as a layman that there are differences, but I'm not sure I can offer testimony as to provincial regulatory differences.

MR. MURRAY:  And I would ask to pull up page 15 of the report, which is also page 95 of the PDF.  I would like to focus on Figure 11, which is at the bottom of this table.

Can we agree that of all the comparators here, there are only two comparators which are 230 kV lines?

MR. RUSSO:  I would agree with that, although, as I set forth in my report, I specifically looked at other similar voltages like 240 and 270 kV and reached the conclusion they were comparable to a 230 kV voltage level.

MR. MURRAY:  You would agree that there's only two that are 230 kV?

MR. RUSSO:  I would agree with that, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  And those are the WECC, not an actually a specific line but a study, and LRP, correct?

MR. RUSSO:  I would agree, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  Can we also agree that of those two, only NRLP was built in Ontario?

MR. RUSSO:  I would agree with that.

MR. MURRAY:  Can we also agree that NRLP was the most recent of the comparator lines built in this study?

MR. RUSSO:  I would agree with that as well.

MR. RUSSO:  So can we agree that of all the projects on this page, NRLP would be the best comparator?

MR. RUSSO:  I'm not sure I can agree with that.  I would agree it's the most recent, and would certainly agree it's also in Ontario like Bruce to Milton.  I think best is a challenging word to use in the circumstances.  There are differences, such as terrain, and labour markets and technology that are also relevant.

Again, Niagara and the East-West Tie were built in very different geographies.  So I'm not sure best is a term I would use.  I would say I selected a reasonable spectrum of projects from which to make comparisons.

Niagara, I would agree, is also in Ontario, albeit in a very different part of the province, and of a similar voltage level.

MR. MURRAY:  I want to focus on your comment about terrain.  The CRA identified certain material differences such as voltage, for which you made adjustments, correct?

MR. RUSSO:  That's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  But you did not make an adjustment for the terrain differences between NRLP and EWT, is that correct?

MR. RUSSO:  That's correct.  And just to be clear, I think my footnotes were -- the message I was making in the footnotes perhaps in my report perhaps did not come through as clearly as it could have.  The point I was attempting to make was the East-West Tie and Niagara province have similar costs, despite having built in very different terrain, something that cost estimators cannot necessarily account for in some ways.

Again, I'm not offering testimony on Ontario geography, but I've been to the Niagara and have seen Ms. Tidmarsh's pictures, and they look like very different places.

MR. MURRAY:  Can we agree there might be certain differences in constructing in Ontario.  For example, if you are building the Canadian Shield you, will not have to build the foundations as deep as you would on other land?

MR. RUSSO:  There may be other panel members that are equipped to testify about the nuances of construction in different terrains.  But as a general matter, my experience has been that more mountainous, more remote terrains is more challenging to construct in, and therefore more expensive.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Mr. Murray, sorry, could you repeat that question again?  Were you asking if it was more advantageous to build in Northern Ontario than it would be in southern Ontario?

MR. MURRAY:  What I was asking Mr. Russo is whether or not -- he said that different terrains -- all I want to point out is that certain aspects in the north may be less expensive.  For example, it may be less expensive to build foundation towers on the Canadian Shield that wouldn't have to be as deep as you would in southern Ontario.

I think what he said was -- he said there may be certain -- am I correct, Mr. Russo, you said there may be certain advantages, but you weren't able to testify on that?  Is that --


MR. RUSSO:  No, no, that probably mischaracterizes my answer.  What I said is that I'm probably not equipped to testify on the nuances of tower construction techniques in different terrain, but as a general matter, the more remote, more forested, and mountainous the terrain, the more expensive.  There might --


MR. MURRAY:  But you do not make an adjustment in this case because you didn't deem it material?

MR. RUSSO:  Right.  The comparison I'm making is one that I'm describing right now, where when one looks at similar cost in different terrain, the fact that the in general more remote mountainous terrain should increase costs is something that's a qualitative comparison, not something that I accounted for, because using cost escalators wouldn't necessarily account for that.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Mr. Murray, I would like to address the comment -- or the part of your question about being advantageous to construct on the Canadian Shield.  I don't think that is correct.  In fact, the Canadian Shield has caused quite a few issues with tower construction.  And Mr. Mayers can expand more, but I do want to mention that there's issues with grounding.  Obviously it's hard -- very hard rock, and from, like, an electricity -- a lightning storm situation, we have had to add extra arrestors, that type of thing.

Mr. Mayers, did you want to briefly just add some information here?

MR. MAYERS:  Sure, Ms. Tidmarsh.  I don't know about the terrain for Niagara.  What I can tell you is on the east-west line the Canadian Shield is extremely difficult to drill through, whether you're drilling a deep foundation that may not be necessary, you could put in rock anchors.  You're coring through solid rock, so it takes time, it takes special equipment.  The access to these places -- you've seen some of the pictures.  The access is very difficult.  When you pull it all together, Ms. Tidmarsh also mentioned the grounding.  It's extremely difficult to ground -- provide ground path through the rock, so [audio dropout] any advantages whatsoever.

If let's say Niagara is flat terrain, it has softer soils that can easily be drilled, you know, with standard [audio dropout]


THE REPORTER:  I'm sorry to interrupt, but I'm losing Mr. Mayers' sound.

MR. MAYERS:  Ms. Court Reporter, if you would prefer, I will call in again.

THE REPORTER:  I'm not sure if anyone else was missing words, but his audio seemed to have dropped off at the end.

UNIDENTIFIED FEMALE SPEAKER:  His audio did drop off, and there seemed to be like a background noise as well briefly.

MR. MURRAY:  Perhaps we move on, unless Mr. Mayers --


MR. VEGH:  Well, I -- sorry, Mr. Murray.  I think you've some -- you've asked a question, and the witness is trying to give evidence, so I don't think we should move on before he gets to part of your question.  If -- unless the Panel -- or Commissioners have any concerns, I would suggest it would make sense for Mr. Mayers to call in so his evidence can come across clearly.

DR. ELSAYED:  Yes, that's fine.  I think we can just go off record for a minute until Mr. Mayers connects by phone.

MR. VEGH:  Are you calling in, Mr. Mayers?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes, sir.

[Off-the-record discussion.]


MR. MAYERS:  So with the Canadian Shield, we have solid rock that we're --


THE REPORTER:  Excuse me, sorry, back on the record, Mr. Chair?

DR. ELSAYED:  Yes, please.  We'll go back on the record now.

MR. MAYERS:  Yeah, we're dealing with solid rock, so we may have shallower foundations that we have to contend with, and we may not have to use as much concrete.  However, the difficulty with drilling a hole in the solid rock is very time-consuming.  It takes specialized equipment.  Depending on the depth of rock we may actually find rock that's competent for, you know, 10, 15, 20 feet, or may find that we bust through rock after a certain distance, so it requires us to have different equipment to be able to then continue with the foundation to get at deeper depths, and that may require additional equipment.  And as I've stated, we have got significant access issues for all this equipment to get it in.

So I don't agree at all, although, like I said, I don't understand the topography of Niagara, but we are finding this one of the most challenging projects that we have built because of not just terrain but the rocks, the access, the weather, all the conditions that have affected this in northern Ontario,.  And the fact that it's so far away from everything, just getting this equipment, mobilizing equipment, to this location is quite a challenge as well.

MR. MURRAY:  Can I ask that we turn to page 95 of the PDF.  We're still in the 2020 report.  Oh, we're still there.  I would like to now focus the line titled "new -- total line costs", and I'm going to focus on the new EWT line where it lists 711.  I presume that 711, Mr. Russo, is 711 million dollars?

MR. RUSSO:  That's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  Can you tell me where that number comes from?

MR. RUSSO:  It comes from cost estimate elsewhere in the report.  Let me -- you're looking for a particular table?  I mean, the ultimate source in the number or the cost estimates from --


MR. MURRAY:  Perhaps I --


MR. RUSSO:  -- NextBridge.

MR. MURRAY:  Sorry, perhaps I can help you.  I believe the number is wrong.  Can we go to Figure 3, which is found earlier in the report.  I don't have the page offhand.  But if we go to Figure 3, I believe what that number should be, that 711, should in fact actually be 773, which is the total cost of the project not adjusted to 2022 dollars.

Should it be that 773,713 number?  Is that the number that should be appearing on Figure 11?

MR. RUSSO:  Give me a moment to just look.  Let me take a look at what I'm looking at right here.  You know what?  I want to check and confirm that, actually.  The number that is used for the calculation, though, is the one below, but the line cost adjustment is 741, which does correspond to Figure 4, the next one down.

MR. GARNER:  So --


MR. RUSSO:  The 711 in there doesn't enter into the calculation in that particular table.  That's something I would want to check to see the source of that number before agreeing or disagreeing with you.

MR. MURRAY:  Perhaps if we go to the 2018 report we can assist you with that.  Can we go to page 111 of the PDF.  And if you scroll down, there should be a Table 111 of the PDF, which has a comparison -- let me -- sorry, 112 of the PDF, sorry.

MR. RUSSO:  This is the 2018 report.

MR. MURRAY:  2018 report.  If you look at the total line-cost line, it says 777, and if you look at Figure 3 from the 2018 report, so we can go up to Figure 3 from the 2011 report -- 2020.  We have to go back to tab 15 again and we have to go to Figure 3 in tab 13. I don't have the number offhand.

If you look at Figure 3, you'll see the total cost there is 777.  So it would appear to me that the figure in this summary table in the report was the total cost, not inflated or deflated.

So it strikes me that the number, going back to the 2020 report, should actually be 773 not 711.  Would you agree with that?

MR. RUSSO:  I want to further investigate it before I agree or disagree with it.  But the number used for the benchmarking cost was actually 741, so changing it wouldn't change the results.

MR. MURRAY:  It wouldn't change -- how would it not change the results?

MR. RUSSO:  Because the number being divided to come up with benchmarking is 741.  The 711, I want to confirm that that is something provided for informational purposes in that table.  Again, there's a pretty lengthy record on this and that is something I would want to further investigate before I agree or disagree with your conclusion.

MR. MURRAY:  Just to let you know where I'm going with this, if you look at the table, Figure 11 on page 95 of the PDF --


MR. RUSSO:  Which is the '18 or '20 report?

MR. MURRAY:  The '20 report.  Page 95 of the PDF of the 2020 report, Figure 11.

MR. RUSSO:  Right.

MR. MURRAY:  If you look, Bruce to Milton, B.C. National, WECC, AESO projects and Niagara, if you look and compare the total cost lines for each of those to the line cost adjustment to 2022 dollars, all the other ones seem to go up.  And if that number in fact was supposed to be 773, it appears the new EWT is going down.  Would you agree?

MR. RUSSO:  I think I do see where you're going with this.  The 741 is the relevant number.  And I suspect where you're going on this, and this relates perhaps one of the documents that was file at the beginning of the hearing, is the inflation methodology that was used.

And one of the things that occurred to me, when I was doing the report and on receiving the proposed recalculations from the OEB, was that looking at nominal costs was better than inflating to 2022 costs because some costs don't get inflated.

But I think I understand where you're going with this.  Even if the costs were slightly increased, it wouldn't change my fundamental conclusion regarding reasonability of the project.  But again with regards to the specific number, the 711, that's something I would want to confirm.

And also, too, to kind of dimensionalize, if we could -- perhaps we can scroll down a couple of lines to Figure 13 as well --


MS. WALDING:  Mr. Russo, we had an IR on this as well, so can we pull up that IR?

Give us a second, because we had an IR on this as well, so we'll look at it.

MR. RUSSO:  One of the right's related to the exact cost which was supplied by NextBridge -- but perhaps, Mr. Murray, you may want to ask a question --


MR. MURRAY:  Perhaps you can just provide an undertaking to advise whether or not the 711 number is the correct number and if not, what it should be.  Can we do that by way of undertaking?

MR. RUSSO:  I can do that.

MR. MURRAY:  Undertaking J3.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.1:  TO ADVISE WHETHER THE 711 NUMBER IS CORRECT, AND IF NOT TO ADVISE WHAT IT SHOULD BE


MR. VEGH:  While we're on this, Mr. Murray, perhaps we can pull up the IR as well?

MR. MURRAY:  Mr. Vegh, I'm aware of the IR.  I'd like to move in a different direction at this point.  I'm aware of the IR in evidence, but I don't wish to speak to it at this point.

MR. VEGH:  This is not just about you, Mr. Murray.  This is evidence going on in a proceeding for the Panel to review.  The parties want to give complete answers.  So whatever might be in your head may not be the answer that's satisfactory to all.  If there is a relevant IR, I don't see why we can't pull it up and identify it.

MR. MURRAY:  Mr. Vegh, it's unclear to me this IR will be relevant to the issue of whether or not the 711 number is correct, which was my initial question when I went down this road.

MR. VEGH:  I've never heard of an objection to pulling up an IR that's relevant to an issue just because you have a different theory in your cross.  Ms. Weinstein, is there an IR that's relevant to this series of questions?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  I believe there are two, HONI 6 and Staff 25.

MR. VEGH:  Which is the subsection, Ms. Weinstein?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  I believe part A speaks to what we were referring to.  Mr. Russo wants to elaborate on part A in relation to the tables of 740.

MR. RUSSO:  That mirrors what I just testified to.  So the 740.5 corresponds to the 741.1, which is the relevant number.  I want to take a closer look at the 711 and confirm it.  But knowing how the numbers were calculated, it is the 741 that's relevant.  If the 711 is there, it is provided for informational purposes and doesn't enter into the calculation.  But I have agreed to undertake in undertaking 3.1 to look at that 711.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you.

MR. MURRAY:  Are there other IRs that you wish to refer to?

MR. RUSSO:  I don't have another IR in particular that I need to refer to at this moment.

MS. WEINSTEIN:  Just for a complete answer, in addition to those I mentioned, I believe Staff 49 is relevant as well, just to have that on the record.

MR. VEGH:  Perhaps Mr. Russo can refer to -- consider both of those IR responses when he is responding to this undertaking.

MR. RUSSO:  I will do so.

MR. MURRAY:  Could I ask that we turn up the 2020 report, page 6 of that report, which is page 86 of the PDF.  I'm going to be reading from the last paragraph on the page, if you can scroll down a bit.  Perfect.

The last paragraph reads:
"For comparative purposes, CRA has analyzed the present value of the annual project costs for the new EWT line so that all benchmark results could be compared in 2022 dollars.  Costs as provided by NextBridge are included in Figure 3, while the costs adjusted to 2022 Canadian dollars are shown in Figure 4."


Do you see that?  Did I read that correctly, Mr. Russo?

MR. RUSSO:  You did.

MR. MURRAY:  What you're saying here is the costs in Figure 3 have been adjusted to 2022 dollars in Figure 4, correct?

MR. RUSSO:  That's what it states.

MR. MURRAY:  The reason why the Figure 3 figures can't be used on their own to compare to other projects is that some of the these EWT costs were incurred before 2022, correct?

MR. RUSSO:  That's the part I don't agree with.

MR. MURRAY:  Were costs not incurred before 2022?

MR. RUSSO:  That part I agree with.  But OEB Staff raises an interesting point regarding how costs ought to be considered.

Costs indeed incurred prior to 2022.  Those costs were in fact sunk.  So one of the general principles of looking it at regulatory review is that some costs are sunk and treated as such.

So upon preparing the report and upon receiving OEB Staff's interrogatories, which were helpful, furthered my opinion that the sunk costs don't need to be inflated.  The decision before the OEB is are the East-West Tie costs reasonable.  Funds have been spent by NextBridge already and at NextBridge's expense, it has foregone the time value of money there.

So while that's what it in fact states, I'm not even sure that inflation or adjustment to 2022 dollars is necessary or warranted, because there is no need to inflate some costs.

MR. MURRAY:  This theory of sunk costs, is that anywhere in your report?

MR. RUSSO:  No.  It is something which I believe is sort of general economic knowledge, but I didn't describe it specifically this way.  In one of the interrogatory responses I did elaborate a bit upon how costs that had already been previously incurred need to be discounted.  But, yes, I did not describe it specifically as sunk costs in the benchmarking report.

MR. MURRAY:  In fact, in this paragraph do you not say that you inflated the cost to 2022 dollars?

MR. RUSSO:  I said adjusted.

MR. MURRAY:  Adjusted to 2022 dollars, correct?

MR. RUSSO:  That's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  So can we turn to figures 3 and 4 on the next page.  And you would agree with me that if -- sorry, if you can look at the -- and so if you turn over to page 7 of the CRA report, so it would be page, I think 8.  I think we're not at the right -- I think we're at the wrong report.  I'm at the wrong report.  Having trouble following along.  I just want make sure I join you where you are.

MR. RUSSO:  I'm on page 7 and figures 3 and 4.

MR. MURRAY:  Right.  I'm getting there.  I have too many screens open, and it's a challenge.

So if you turn over the page to page 7, you will see the figures 3 and 4 that you referred to in your previous paragraph, correct?

MR. RUSSO:  That's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  And if you look at Figure 4 it indicates that the total project cost in 2022 dollars is in fact less than the total project cost, correct?

MR. RUSSO:  That's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  And it seems like we can agree that it would only make sense if there was an aggregated inflation rate leading up to 2022, correct?

MR. RUSSO:  Well, again, it goes back to what I just said.  I suspect I know where you're going on this, Mr. Murray.  I would think that even an adjustment in Figure 4 isn't necessary, and in looking at the responses that I got from OEB Staff, I agree in part and disagree in part with methodology, but I would be entirely comfortable going with the numbers in Figure 3, which adopt the fact that money has already been spent and doesn't inflate some costs and omitting the cost in Figure 4.

MR. MURRAY:  The purpose of Figure 4 is to inflate the dollars to 2022 dollars, is it not?

MR. RUSSO:  That's correct.  Well, adjust.

MR. MURRAY:  And did you do that?

MR. RUSSO:  I adjusted it --


MR. MURRAY:  Did you adjust it correctly?

MR. RUSSO:  I adjusted it in a step that I would agree with you wasn't necessary to reach my conclusion.

MR. MURRAY:  Did you adjust it correctly to 2022 dollars?

MR. RUSSO:  I made an adjustment that I now believe is no longer necessary.  I would have stuck with the figures in Figure 3.

MR. MURRAY:  Mr. Russo, I'll ask the question for a third time.  Did you adjust the 2022 dollars to 2022 dollars correctly?  It's a yes or no question.

MR. RUSSO:  Well, it is a step I took.  I would have done it differently.  It was unnecessary to reach my conclusion, so I would have omitted Figure 4, the adjustment.  But it would not change the -- it would not change the overall conclusions and only minimally change the results.

MR. MURRAY:  I still don't think you answered my question.  Did you adjust the 2022 dollars correctly?  Did you inflate it or did you de-escalate?

MR. RUSSO:  I de-escalated, as I said in my interrogatory response, because those costs had already incurred.  It was a step that was unnecessary.  I would have done it -- I would have omitted that step.  So omitting that step, you can read into that what you want.  It's a step that I now think wasn't necessary to reach my conclusion.

MR. MURRAY:  Wasn't the whole purpose of your report was to compare a bunch of projects as to what they would have been in 2022 dollars?  Wasn't that the entire purpose of this benchmarking report?

MR. RUSSO:  Well, the purpose was to allow the OEB to judge whether the costs were reasonable, and as I stated before, number of costs for the East-West Tie have already incurred prior to 2022.  Those costs are sunk.  The decision before the OEB right now is looking at whether those costs are in fact reasonable.  It's unreasonable to inflate some costs.  Those monies have already been spent.  There is no reason to inflate them.

So I took a look at what OEB provided me, and if we can, I would like to flip to Figure 13 in my report, because that helps, I think, dimensionalize where I believe Mr. Murray is going on this.  And I will agree that OEB made a legitimate point in questioning the inflation, so if we take the unadjusted figures, the nominal costs, and we do the same calculation, the number goes to 1.71, so if we're looking right there, the blue line, which is the East-West Tie, moves just about even with the yellow line at the top of the Niagara range, so it is a pretty minimal change results, and still substantially below the other projects that I took a look at, indicating to me that the results are -- the results and the costs for East-West Tie are quite reasonable.

MR. MURRAY:  Can we please go back to your 2018 report, compendium, tab 5.  And in particular I would like to go to page 136 of the PDF, or page 6 of your 2018 report, and I'm going to read from the paragraph on the page, starting costs:

"Costs for the new EWT line will occur starting in 2017 and will culminate in 2020 when the project is anticipated to reach commercial operation.  For comparative purposes, CRA has taken the present value of the annual project costs for the new EWT line so that all benchmark results could be compared in 2017 dollars.  Costs as provided by NextBridge are included in Figure 3, while the costs de-escalated to 2017 Canadian dollars are shown in Figure 4."

Did I read that paragraph [audio dropout]?

MR. RUSSO:  You did.

THE REPORTER:  I'm sorry, Mr. Murray, I think you froze for a second, and I missed the last word you said.

MR. MURRAY:  Am I back?

THE REPORTER:  Yeah.  Did I read that paragraph -- something.

MR. MURRAY:  Accurately.

MR. RUSSO:  So I think the last question was, Mr. Murray, whether you read that paragraph accurately, and, yes, it accurately portrays what's in the report.

MR. MURRAY:  And if we scroll to the next page, so we have -- on Figure 3 and Figure 4, so if we can just have half on page 6, half on page 7.  Figure 3 shows the total cost of the EWT line as 771.181 million dollars, correct?

MR. RUSSO:  I see that number.

MR. MURRAY:  And if you look at Figure 4, it shows the total cost of the EWT line as 748 million dollars in 2017 dollars, correct?

MR. RUSSO:  I see that.

MR. MURRAY:  Can you please explain to me how the costs of the EWT project in 2017 dollars shown in this figure here are higher than the same costs in 2022 dollars in the 2020 report?

MR. RUSSO:  Sorry, so which numbers are you comparing?

MR. MURRAY:  Seven -- the 7.8 here, which was costs in 2017 dollars, and we've -- the costs in 2022 dollars is purportedly 741 million dollars.  So can you explain to me how 2022 dollars, it costs less than in 2017?

MR. RUSSO:  Again, as I said, you know, the adjustment I made for 2022 dollars in the 2018 report, if I had to do it over again, frankly, I'd skip that step.  I think getting -- looking just solely at the nominal dollars is appropriate and all that's necessary, because many of those costs are sunk at this point.  So Mr. Murray, I agree with you that probably Figure 4 in the 2020 report is something that probably should have been omitted.

MR. MURRAY:  I'm not sure we agree it should be omitted; I think Staff's position is that it should be corrected.  And perhaps we can go to Staff's compendium, tab 16, or page 116 of the PDF.  And this -- you'll see a chart titled "OEB Staff chart, analysis of EWT costs in 2020 Charles River Associates report".  Do you have the document?

MR. RUSSO:  I do.

MR. MURRAY:  I would like to start with the first two charts.  The first chart is simply a copy of Figure 3 from the 2020 report.  Do you have an issue with the numbers that are contained on it?

MR. RUSSO:  I recall looking at it and it seemed to match what was in the report.

MR. MURRAY:  Chart 2 is a copy of Figure 4 from the 2020 report.  Do you have an issue with the numbers in it?

MR. RUSSO:  I do not.

MR. MURRAY:  In chart 3, OEB Staff is trying to reverse-engineer the calculation contained in Figure 4 of your 2020 report.  We had do this because some of the discount periods were not evident on the face of the report.  So for example, costs pre-August 1, 2017, it wasn't clear what period -- amortization period you used.  So we reverse engineered it to figure out your discount periods, and we've come within 500,000 on 741 million.

So do you take any issue with the chart in terms of what the assumptions you seem to apply are in your Figure 4?

MR. RUSSO:  No, and I can explain -- I mean, we have the same answer, which is 1.65.  And it was an interesting exercise to understand what you did and I did.  I calculated a price index first and then applied that price index to the 20 -- to the nominal numbers to adjust them to constant year dollars.  You applied the adjustment directly to the numbers.

So sometimes when you're multiplying by negative exponents or dividing by positive exponents, there are very small differences over short periods.  So you come up with numbers that are about 1/10th of one percent different than mine, but the same ultimate result.

MR. MURRAY:  So you don't take any issue with the calculations in chart 3?

MR. RUSSO:  I don't.

MR. MURRAY:  Now I would like to look at chart 4.  In this chart, Staff has taken the numbers from Figure 3 and rather than de-escalating the numbers, we have inflated those amounts to arrive at total estimate of NextBridge's cost in 2022 dollars.

You don't take any issue with the math in chart 4, do you, Mr. Russo?

MR. RUSSO:  I don't take any issue with the math.  Again, you used a slightly different methodology, but I do think that it's probably not the appropriate number to use.  Again, I think the adjustment that I made in Figure 4 wasn't strictly necessary; I would have gone with nominal dollars.

And again as I testified, if I took your numbers and applied the calculations in nominal dollars, I think the answer is 1.71.

MR. MURRAY:  Mr. Russo, if you had done in Figure 4 what you purported to do, would you have arrived at 1.8 million dollars per kilometre?

MR. RUSSO:  If I had -- I would have done that, but I don't think that's the right number for the OEB to use.  But again, I adopted some of OEB Staff's positions.  I disagree with the 1.8 number.  I think nominal dollars is the proper way, but I take no issue with the math OEB performed.

MS. WALDING:  Mr. Russo, I think also, too, if you compare the spend curves which were not available to you from Bruce to Milton, you did not take the spend curves and escalate the spin curves to 2022 dollars, which is what is being done here on this page here.

So I don't think this is a fair comparison.  Can you speak to that a little bit more?

MR. RUSSO:  That is correct, I did not adjust the spend curves.

MS. WALDING:  Which is what is trying to be accomplished here in chart 4.  So what he did is he took the final cost of all the projects and moved those to 2022 dollars.  What you're trying to accomplish on chart 4 is you're trying to say no, not just the final costs need to be moved to 2022, but all the spend that occurred prior to 2022 needs to be moved to 2022 individually.  And that's not a fair comparison to all the rest of the project.

In all the rest of the projects, they took their nominal cost and moved their total nominal cost to 2022.

MR. MURRAY:  Mr. Russo, there was lots in there.  I want to get back to my question.

If you had done what you said you were going to do in Figure 4, and you had adjusted to 2022 dollars based on the numbers in Figure 3, you would have arrived at 1.8 million dollars per kilometre, would you not?  It's a yes or no question.

MR. RUSSO:  If I had used the same approach OEB did, I would have arrived at 1.8.  But again, I don't think that's the right number for comparison.

MR. MURRAY:  It's not what OEB Staff used.  If you used the approach you purported to say you were using on page 6 of your report, if you actually had done that on page 7, in Figure 4 you would have arrived at 1.8 million dollars per kilometre, would you not?

MR. RUSSO:  I would have arrived at a different number.  I haven't done the math myself, but I would have arrived at a slightly higher number, yes.

MS. WALDING:  Mr. Murray, the point that I'm making --and Mr. Russo, you can confirm this -- is that all the rest of the projects that were compared, you would have to apply this same methodology, which would move all the rest of the projects significantly up if you applied this same methodology as what you're trying to apply in Chart 4 to the other projects.  Is that correct, Mr. Russo?

MR. RUSSO:  Adjustments were applied to other projects as well, as set forth in the different tables in the report.  I think we're speaking specifically about East-West Tie right now.  But yes, inflation is important to all of these projects.

MR. MURRAY:  I'm going to ask the question once more because I don't have the answer, or perhaps I've been mis- hearing.

If you had done in chart 4 what you said you were going to do based upon your paragraph on page 6, if you had done what you said you were going to do and adjusted and escalated to 2022 dollars, would you not have arrived at 1.8 million dollars per kilometre for the cost of the EWT?

MR. RUSSO:  If I had done the inflation the way OEB is suggesting, I would have arrived at 1.8.  But as I stated previously, given the substantial amount of funds already spent in the sung costs, I think the right number is in between, at 1.71.

If I performed inflation the way you're suggesting, it would have arrived at 1.8.  But as I stated now numerous times, I don't think that's the appropriate number to use.

MR. MURRAY:  If you had rather than discounting your numbers in Figure 4, you'd actually adjusted and inflated them like you said you were going do on the previous page, would you have arrived at 1.8?

MR. RUSSO:  If I had inflated them using this inflation rate, I would have arrived at 1.8.  But again I think the appropriate number to compare for the OEB is using the calculation of nominal dollars at 1.71.

MR. MURRAY:  Mr. Chair, I only have probably another five minutes in this area, so I would ask that we perhaps continue this line of questioning and take our break in five minutes, if that's acceptable.

DR. ELSAYED:  That's fine.  Please continue.

MR. MURRAY:  If I can ask you to turn to figure 8, which is on page 13 of the 2020 report, or page 93 of the PDF.

MR. RUSSO:  If you can wait for me to get there, please.  Figure 8 are the WECC benchmark calculations.

MR. MURRAY:  Correct.  This is a benchmark calculation based on a 2014 study of the Western Electricity Coordinating Council, correct?

MR. RUSSO:  That's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  This does not provide the actual cost for another Canadian transmission project, correct, a specific transmission project?

MR. RUSSO:  Specific transmission project, although both Alberta and British Columbia are part of the WECC.  But yes, correct; it's not a specific transmission project.

MR. MURRAY:   You would agree that WECC comprises sixteen states and part of Mexico, correct?

MR. RUSSO:  Comprises a number of states; I'll take your word that it's sixteen.

MR. MURRAY:  I only know from the website.  If the website is wrong, I could be wrong.

MR. RUSSO:  I would agree it comprises a number of western states, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  You would agree the total cost per kilometre the CRA -- that you come up with in your report using the WECC study is 1.92 million dollars per kilometre?

MR. RUSSO:  That's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  And the total cost per kilometre that the CRA report comes up with using the WECC study is 1.92 million dollars per kilometre, correct?

MR. RUSSO:  That's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  If you look four rows down from the figure titled Multipliers on the left-hand side -- if you look four rows down, you'll see an entry "terrain forested, capital cost multiplier 1.5".  Do you see that?

MR. RUSSO:  I do.

MR. MURRAY:  I take that to mean the total cost estimate was multiplied by 1.5 to arrive at the 1.92 million dollar per kilometre number; is that correct?

MR. RUSSO:  You know, we reviewed this formula yesterday with the HONI attorney.  I don't recall whether it is multiplication by coefficient or something else, but that 1.5 as far as the terrain factor does factor into the calculation.  I don't know whether it's adjusted, but it was the formula taken from the WECC report.

MR. MURRAY:  And we don't need the exact number, but we've tried to crunch the numbers, and to the extent that you -- subject to check or you wish to make an undertaking, that's fine, but we would calculate that if you remove this forested terrain factor from this, you get a cost per kilometre in the range of, I think it's 1.28, 1.29, 1.3 million dollars per kilometre.  Subject to check will you accept that?

MR. RUSSO:  I would have to check it, but I will accept your calculation, though I don't think it's the appropriate comparison.

MR. MURRAY:  Can we scroll to the previous page, and in particular I would like to look at footnote 11.  And footnote 11 -- actually, before we go to footnote 11 if you could just scroll up just a little bit to see where footnote 11 comes from.  Footnote 11 comes from the bullet "terrain forested cost multiplier 1.5".  So that's what footnote 11 relates to.  And if we look at footnote 11, it reads "CRA utilized the terrain cost multiplier provided by NextBridge".  Did I read that accurately?

MR. RUSSO:  You did.

MR. MURRAY:  So is NextBridge the one who decided you should use the 1.5 [audio dropout] multiplier in the calculation?

MR. RUSSO:  No.  When I look at the WECC report there are obviously a number of different terrain multipliers that I could use.  I had a conversation with NextBridge and I had a discussion about which was most appropriate to closest approximate construction conditions in the East-West Tie, so they provided their insight.  I ultimately made the decision to use the forested terrain multiplier.

MR. MURRAY:  Sorry, I think you seem to -- was it me who froze there?

MR. RUSSO:  Did you get my answer?

MR. MURRAY:  I think I got most of it.

MR. RUSSO:  So there are multiple --


MR. MURRAY:  I've received enough.  I'll move on --


MR. RUSSO:  Well -- sorry --


MR. VEGH:  Mr. Murray, it doesn't matter whether you received enough.  If the evidence didn't go on the record then Mr. Russo has the opportunity to provide that evidence.  Mr. Russo.

MR. RUSSO:  So there are multiple terrain multipliers in the WECC study.  I had a conversation with NextBridge about which one would be most appropriate to closely -- most closely approximate conditions for the East-West Tie.  They provided their input.  I ultimately made the decision that it seemed like a reasonable terrain cost multiplier for the type of terrain that the East-West Tie was being constructed in.

MR. MURRAY:  And once you did, you satisfied yourself that that was the appropriate multiplier?

MR. RUSSO:  I reviewed the description in the WECC report and relied upon my own experience and general knowledge of geography.

MR. MURRAY:  How did you know it applied to this particular project?

MR. RUSSO:  Again, their descriptions in the WECC report about what constituted different types of terrain.  I recall at the time having done some googling about Ontario geography.  I satisfied myself that forested terrain, which was not -- and there were certainly multipliers higher than 1.5 that could have been used.  I satisfied myself that forested was a reasonable approximation for the terrain in northwest Ontario.

MR. MURRAY:  So I would like to just summarize what we've discussed in terms of benchmarking.  You would agree with me that if you had inflated NextBridge's cost to 2022 dollars, the proposed cost per kilometre would have been 1.8 million dollars per kilometre, correct?

MR. RUSSO:  I agree.  If things were inflated to that level that would be -- it would be 1.8, but I believe that since so many of the costs have already been incurred and spent, it's more appropriate to do it on nominal dollars, and I think the answer there would be 1.71, which would be, yes, I would see a slight increase from the cost per kilometre in the report.

MR. MURRAY:  And you would agree that 1.8 million dollars per kilometre is more than NRLP's actual cost of 1.6 million dollars per kilometre, correct?

MR. RUSSO:  I would agree that 1.8 is higher than 1.6.  I think NRLP was 1.7 or 1.66, if memory serves, so 1.66, 1.66, rounds to 1.7.

MR. MURRAY:  I believe it was 1.65, but --


MR. RUSSO:  Still rounds to 1.7.

MR. MURRAY:  You're right.  It's 1.66.

And assuming the forestry multiplier is removed, it would appear that the WECC study would arrive at a cost in the range of 1.8, 2. -- 1.28, 1.29.  Do you dispute that?

MR. RUSSO:  I would want to check that, but again, I don't think that's appropriate.  Again, I have no reason to think that northwest Ontario does not have forested terrain, and it seemed to be approximate.  There were other multipliers for mountainous terrain, rocky terrain.  Forested in this case seemed to be a fairly conservative assumption.

MR. MURRAY:  And Mr. Russo, you were part of the leave-to-construct proceeding, were you not?

MR. RUSSO:  I was.

MR. MURRAY:  And would you be able to agree that the total costs of the EWT -- of the Hydro One Lake Superior Link for the route around the Pukaskwa National Park was 682.8 million dollars, or 1.52 -- 1.52 million dollars per kilometre.  Subject to check will you agree with that?

MR. RUSSO:  I don't recall the specific number.  I would want to check that.  But Lake Superior Link was a proposal, not an actual constructed project.

MR. MURRAY:  But subject to check you dispute that -- the math there?

MR. RUSSO:  Again, I would want to confirm that.  I recall there being multiple filings around the Lake Superior Link.  I would want to take a look at it, and if you can point me -- there is a correct filing I can confirm or disagree with you.

MR. MURRAY:  Would you like to take that by way of undertaking?

MR. RUSSO:  Certainly.  Is there a particular filing or -- that you would like me to use to confirm that?

MR. MURRAY:  I would have to ask my colleagues to get the exact item, but we can point you in the right direction offline.

MR. RUSSO:  As a general matter, I do recall that the Lake Superior Link, which was again a proposal, nothing that was constructed -- again, what we're dealing with in the benchmarking study are as constructed costs or, in the case of the East-West Tie, as incurred costs -- I do recall it having been low, but again, that's a project that wasn't constructed, so it didn't bear inclusion in the benchmarking study.

MR. MURRAY:  Perhaps we don't need an undertaking, and --


MR. RUSSO:  Comparing it to a -- comparing costs for actual projects along with the East-West Tie which has incurred roughly 60 percent of its costs already to a project that was only a proposal wouldn't be an informative comparison for me.

MR. MURRAY:  Perhaps, Mr. Chair, with that it's a good time for a break.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  It's about 10:40 now, so we'll take a ten-minute break and resume at 10:50.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 10:40 a.m.
--- On resuming at 10:55 a.m.

DR. ELSAYED:  Mr. Murray, you can continue your cross.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Just to let you know, Mr. Russo has advised he can respond to an undertaking request now before we continue with the cross-examination.  So with your leave, I'd ask him to do that.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  Please go ahead, Mr. Russo.

MR. RUSSO:  Thank you.  Mr. Murray, you asked previously about the terrain cost multiplier.  During the break, I had a chance to consult my notes back from 2018 actually, as well as the WECC report, which were informative.

Can we please pull up the WECC report, specifically table 4-1, which is Staff 50, page 23 of 40.  Thank you.  So what I would like to focus on is probably about two-thirds of the way down the table, under "terrain".  The multiplier for forested is 2.25.

During the break, I had an opportunity to go back to my notes from 2018, and so the multiplier I used for forested terrain was 1.5, which I went back to my notes and refreshed my memory that I actually haircut that.  The actual multiplier for forested terrain is 2.25, which if I had not conservatively decreased it, would have resulted in a cost per kilometre of 2.87, which would be an increase from the 1.5 that I put in my report.  So it would have increased the cost by roughly about 50 percent.

After discussions with NextEra and in an effort to be conservative, I actually haircut that down to 1.5.  Now, 1.5 is pretty close to what we see for terrain multipliers for rolling hills and suburban construction, and again based sort of solely on my layman's knowledge of geography, neither of those seem to accurately describe northwest Ontario.

So certainly Mr. Murray's question about whether the terrain multiplier of one would be appropriate seems unfounded because one is for scrub and farmland.  If I had not conservatively haircut the results for forested terrain, the results would have been 2.87 instead of the 1.92 I used, roughly about 75 percent more expensive than the cost of the East-West Tie per kilometre.

The other thing -- if I may again, with the Board's indulgence, clarify a point that I'm not sure was clear on the record earlier about cost curves and spend curves.

Mr. Murray may come to that, but I wanted to answer the undertaking now so we can cross it off.

DR. ELSAYED:  Please go ahead.

MR. RUSSO:  The point I was making before, which was perhaps not clear on the record, related to spend curves.  So for all the projects I looked at I had to multiply them, and I assumed they were all in a particular year.  I didn't have the advantage of knowing when those spends -- when those monies were incurred by the project developers.  I did have the advantage of doing that for the East-West Tie.  So if I had the -- if I had the spend curves for all the additional projects, that might have increased the cost in current year dollars for any of those.

So that's just a point, that asymmetrical data between the different projects that I was looking at --


MS. WALDING:  Mr. Russo, you might want to bring up the staff table that is in reference to that, so we can talk through that.

MR. RUSSO:  Sure, that would be, I think, Table 3 in my report, which is -- Mr. Murray, does that question about the forestry multiplier address your undertaking satisfactorily?

MR. MURRAY:  Yes, it does provide context on the terrain multiplier.  But if that still remains correct or not, the report states that NextBridge is the one who decided to provide that multiplier to you; correct?

MR. RUSSO:  I certainly had a discussion with -- I certainly had a discussion with NextBridge.  Again, I consulted my notes and realized that forested terrain was probably accurate description.  I elected to haircut it.  I am certain that at some point I may have discussed that with NextBridge.

But to me, assuming that northwest Ontario was similar to rolling hills and not far off from suburban flat construction seems to me an eminently conservative assumption.  And again, if had I used an actual forested multiplier, it would have resulted in, I think, 2.87 increase from 1.92.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you, Mr. Russo.  Perhaps I'm going to switch to a different topic now.  I would like --


MR. VEGH:  I think Mr. Russo was going to speak to one more exhibit.

MR. MURRAY:  Sorry, Mr. Vegh.  I would note that while we've said these are responses to undertakings, to date there has been only one undertaking with respect to the 711 number.  So I would like to move on with my questions, if that's possible.

MR. VEGH:  I believe the witness said he wanted to clarify some evidence he provided to the Panel, and I'm sure we're all supportive of that.

MR. MURRAY:  Mr. Russo, please proceed.

MR. RUSSO:  Certainly.  It's a minor point, just to clarify.  For the East-West Tie shown here Table 3, I do have access to the spend curve, what is being spent when and how it's inflated.  I don't have that, of course, for all the other projects that I took a look at.  So in general, that would mean spending could be inflated at different rates.  In order to do -- if I had that data for the other projects, which isn't necessarily possible, I would have had to provide the same adjustment to those, which likely would have increased costs to those other projects.

Again to be clear, I only have the spend curve for East-West Tie.  I don't have the spend curve for other projects, which is customary in a benchmarking proceeding.

Hopefully that clarifies my point for the record.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you.  I would like to move on now and discuss the HONI cost estimates provided by NextBridge.  If I could ask that we pull up tab 31 of Staff's compendium, or page 171 of the PDF, and ask we go to page 173 of the PDF.  You'll see on this page table 1, the NextBridge OM&A expense.  This sets out NextBridge's proposed annual OM&A budget, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  And this table sets out the costs into various categories which total 4.94 million dollars, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  Can you please help me understand why there would be $70,000 of regulatory expenses in a test year, given you'll receive a decision from the OEB well before this line goes into service?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, I can help explain that.  So our regulatory costs -- I would like to pull up our evidence where we outline our regulatory costs.  I believe our OM&A is found in Exhibit C.  One moment if I can look and find the actual reference.  Ms. Weinstein is faster than me, so let's see if we can race and figure out where it is.

MS. WEINSTEIN:  If you want to go to Exhibit F, tab 4, schedule 2, page 3 of the application.

MS. TIDMARSH:  As part of our regulatory costs, these are not only for our rate case.  As you can see, they include annual filings such as our triple R filings.  We're continuing to do filings during the pandemic; there's a COVID filing we have been involved in as well.

We have also been involved -- you can see general support and compliance, review of public materials, and there's a lot of materials that have been coming out about the COVID situation as well, so we've been doing that this year, so things like that will be popping up during our IR term.  You can see here we've also included periodic filings on our deferral and variance accounts.  Again, monitoring would be an IESO activity, monitoring and stakeholder participation.  I mentioned the COVID costs.  There's also -- quite frequently lately there's been a lot of things that have been coming out of the OEB on decisions and stakeholder sessions, so all of the costs that are in here are related to regulatory, and again, we'll be incurring those yearly over the ten-year IR term.

MR. MURRAY:  Can you tell me how you came up with the 70,000 dollar number, how you arrived at that as an appropriate estimate?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So from our past history working on the East-West Tie line for the past eight years and participating in OEB processes, also additionally Enbridge is one of our partners, and Enbridge -- and you probably are aware -- has a lot of regulatory experience as well, so Enbridge assisted us in putting this number together, and so we -- and the list associated with it.

MR. MURRAY:  So would this be predominantly tied by NEET employees that this would be charged through?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, so you can see it's NEET employees, but you can also see that bottom line there is external legal counsel support, so in some cases as well I think what I would include here is support for a lot of land permits.  Ms. -- Kara can talk to those at one point if you request, but we need external legal counsel for -- and if we need extra land agreements or if we need any -- while we're doing our operations and maintenance.  So those would be part of external legal counsel support, that last budget -- bucket, pardon me.

MS. SCHWAEBE:  Just to add on to Ms. Tidmarsh, what she's talking about from a land filing perspective is that there is a change in the ownership assignments of easements or requirements for re-registration on title where we require external legal support for that.

MR. MURRAY:  These would be for the part after the line goes in service?

MS. SCHWAEBE:  Yes, that's correct.  As we've seen through this project, there's changes to mining leaseholders ongoing in the area, as well as property selling, and at that time you need to transfer those easements over and make sure that we don't lose our registration on title.

MR. MURRAY:  Can I ask that we now turn to tab 23 of Staff's compendium, or page 138 of the PDF.  And I would like -- I'm going to direct people to the reference that's just below "reference 1 also states".  It says:

"NextBridge proposes a project [audio dropout] to be factor of zero.  NextBridge does not expect to recognize OM&A inefficiencies over the IR term as a single new -- as a single new asset, and most of the OM&A is contractual and essentially fixed."

I want to focus on those last two words, "essentially fixed".  We have heard -- we have heard a number of things, but in terms of costs, the cost pressures that NextBridge has had over the last few days, especially with respect to OM&A, so I would ask either today or by way of undertaking if you could identify what amounts out of the 4.94 million dollars are fixed, and by fixed I mean either the actual amount or quantum is fixed or the rates are fixed, so for example in the HONI Supercom SLA.

Is that something -- is that something you can speak to today?  I don't want just examples.  I want, out of the 4.94 million, exactly, there is 2 million here, there's 5,500 here that's fixed, based on this agreement, and this is how much is fixed that, or this is the amount and this is how long it's fixed for, a time period.

Is that something that you can speak -- you can provide a comprehensive list today, or is that something which we can do by way of undertaking?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Mr. Murray, I believe there is actually a question like that in our interrogatories, and we answered it at that point in time.  If we could scroll up.  Oh, sorry, wrong way.  Scroll down.  My bad.  Your up is my down.  Thank you.  So there you can see.

MR. MURRAY:  Well, I guess the issue I have is you have to provide a breakdown.  I would like to know, the 4.94 million dollars, how much is fixed?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, I would like to read my answer on why that's an interesting question to answer, if I may.

MR. MURRAY:  Yes.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Thank you.  So you can see when we talk about what is contractual but not completely fixed, so what I would like to explain here is, there are items in OM&A that have contracts for them, and so as part of those contracts we've budgeted for certain line items to be certain costs, and those fixed parts of those, so for example, in a HONI SLA, those fixed pieces are HONI's unit costs.  So as -- I know you don't want examples, but examples.  So what you're asking me for is try and parse out some of the things that are fixed and some of the things that aren't fixed.  But there are different levels as part of the contract.  So those rates in the HONI contract are fixed, but the contract amount itself, NextBridge has budgeted for 400,000, so I don't think what you're looking for is a straight black-and-white answer, because I think there are some fixed pieces in our budgets, but they are part of contracts.

MS. WALDING:  Ms. Tidmarsh, I think that I can help in an undertaking clarify this a little bit more for Mr. Murray and what you just testified to, so I can take the undertaking.

MR. MURRAY:  That would be Undertaking J3.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.2:  TO PROVIDE A BREAKDOWN OF THE 4.94 MILLION DOLLARS SHOWN AT TAB 23 OF STAFF'S COMPENDIUM, PAGE 138 OF THE PDF

MR. MURRAY:  And similar to this previous question, I also understand the testimony over the last few days that some of the NextBridge's OM&A costs are subject to already agreed-upon inflation terms, so for example the NEET agreement or anything arising from that I understand is subject to inflation at 3 percent for ten years.  And so what I would ask is as a separate undertaking is that you identify any parts of the 4.94 million dollars that are subject to already agreed upon inflation terms and to identify what the amounts are, what the inflation term is, and for what period.

Is that something that we can always -- can reach by way of undertaking?

MS. WALDING:  We can do that.  I did want to clarify for the record, Mr. Murray, what you just said about the NEET agreement is not correct.  There is not a 3 percent already agreed-upon inflation.  It is the actual cost of labour that we will incur, and so it could be 3 percent or it could be more than that.  Typically, what we've seen in the past is 3 percent, but it is not contractually fixed, so I just -- to that inflation factor, so I just wanted to make sure that was on the record.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you, Ms. Walding.  That's helpful.  I'm going to discuss the NEET agreement with you just a little later.  But before we get to that -- so that -- just so it's clear on the record, that will be Undertaking J3.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.3:  TO IDENTIFY ANY PARTS OF THE 4.94 MILLION DOLLARS THAT ARE SUBJECT TO ALREADY AGREED-UPON INFLATION TERMS AND TO IDENTIFY WHAT THE AMOUNTS ARE, WHAT THE INFLATION TERM IS, AND FOR WHAT PERIOD.

MR. MURRAY:  If I can now ask that we turn up once again the 2020 CRA report found at tab 14 of Staff's compendium, and I'm going to go to the benchmarking part that deals with the OM&A benchmarking comparison with Bruce to Milton and Niagara, which is found on page 94 of the PDF, and I'm going to be looking at Figure 10.

And -- now, before we dive into the numbers, while we're pulling up the numbers, I was just hoping that we could agree that, regardless of the length of the transmission line, there are going to be certain underlying costs for all transmission companies that they will have to kind of incur.  So for example, all transmission companies, regardless of size, will likely have some sort of director's office.  Would you agree with that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So I would agree that every transmission company could have a director's office.  However, the magnitude of what that director has to do is proportional to how long that transmission line is.  Obviously, a project director would have to do more work on a line that's 450 kilometres long than one that's shorter, where there's less stakeholders to manage, less OM&A to manage, so I would agree that, yes, they would have a project director's office.  However, the costs of what the project director would do would be increased based on the size of the line.

MR. MURRAY:  Can we also agree that the cost for maintaining the company's website would not depend on the length of the transmission line?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Again, I know this seems minor, but I would like to explain.  So the company's website has a large stakeholder outreach, because there are 191 landowners, there are 18 First Nations communities, there are municipalities, there are -- it's a large project, so a lot of information is placed on that company's website.  So for example, we've placed all of our permits on that website, so every single -- all of our thousands of permits, DPP processes -- which Mr. Raffenberg can speak to later -- all our documentation on this rate case, a huge environmental assessment, so a lot of materials because of the length and size of the project, the magnitude.

If the website was a small website for a single spot 

-- wind farm, for example.  I would expect our website fees would be lower, however 450 kilometres of transmission has a lot of material to be placed on the website and that's bandwidth costs.  We pay for how much materials we put on it, and a constant managing of updating all our materials.

MR. MURRAY:  Do you think if the East-West Tie was ten metres longer, it would cost more to maintain the work site?

MS. TIDMARSH:  You broke up there. Can you repeat that for me?

MR. MURRAY:  If the East-West Tie was not 450 kilometres, but 460, do you think that would have an impact on the cost of the website?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I can't speculate.  I don't know what that extra ten kilometres would be.  If that extra ten kilometres was going through a First Nation reserve, we would probably have more information to put on the website. Whatever those extra kilometres were, I can't speculate.

MR. MURRAY:  Can we agree all transmission companies, regardless of size, would be required to have financial audits prepared by independent third parties?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So I would agree, yes, there's financial audits that will be needed for all transmission companies.  Again, the cost of those of those are costs --for example, our costs of our construction and our size of magnitude of what we're spending here, we've recently finished our Deloitte audit which we filed.

So as part of that, there's a lot of questions Deloitte needed to satisfy itself about, learning about our First Nations partnership, learning about what's on the project by way of our assets, et cetera.

Ms. Weinstein, can you opine?  You were part of our Deloitte audit.

MS. WEINSTEIN:  As the size of a project fluctuates, the materiality threshold set by the auditor would also fluctuate.  The number of selections and sample size for those selections would fluctuate, and you find yourself reviewing more transactions.

I would say the volume of work done by the auditors themselves and internal staff to support that audit has increased based on project size.  And we have seen that as we manage projects like this one, and also parallel audit another company that managed just a single substation, and I would say the effort we put into the single substation audit was much less compared to this project because of the transactional details and different costs and types of costs that needed to be managed and validated by the auditor.

MR. MURRAY:  I want to say -- I would like to follow-up on that question.  Would you agree with me that all other things being equal, if there was a transmission line that was ten kilometres long and a transmission line that was a thousand kilometres long, we would not necessarily expect the costs of the audit to be a thousand times greater for the thousand-kilometre line?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  No, I can't speculate on what the cost of each audit would be.  But I would not agree they would be the same, or potentially a linear cost escalation for those.  I don't think they would cost the same amount of money, though.

MR. MURRAY:  I'm not suggesting they cost the same.  I'm asking whether or not it would cost proportionally per kilometre a hundred times more for an audit of a thousand kilometre line than a ten kilometre line?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  I don't know.  I only know what our audit has cost, essentially.  I'm not sure how will how it would fluctuate based on kilometres.

MR. MURRAY:  Can we agree the OM&A cost per kilometre, not total cost but cost per kilometre, can have a directional relationship with the length of a transmission line?  Can we agree on that?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  No, we can not agree.

MR. VEGH:  Mr. Murray, you're referring to the expert on OM&A benchmarking report, and got information from the client directly.  But now you're talking in a more general principle and I wonder if Mr. Russo is the right person to ask this, as opposed to the company witnesses.

MR. MURRAY:  I would agree with you, Mr. Vegh.  I didn't want to be suggesting that I was cutting off the other witnesses in terms of their evidence.  But I would agree Mr. Russo is probably in the best place to deal with these questions.

MR. RUSSO:  I believe one of the questions you asked, if I can paraphrase, is should there be a direct relationship between the length of the line and the OM&A costs.  And I'm not sure I agree with that.

Building a line through downtown Toronto might have very different OM&A costs than a much more rural area.  I think it's highly dependent on the nature of the line, the land over which it traverses, the technology.  I'm not sure that it's appropriate to draw generalizations that way.

MR. MURRAY:  Let's follow up on that.  Let's assume, all other things being equal, both are rural lines, both use the same technology, both same sort of terrain, if it's a thousand kilometre transmission line, is it likely to have a lower OM&A per kilometre than a company that only has one ten-kilometre line.

Everything else being equal, would you agree with that?

MR. RUSSO:  That the OM&A would be lower based on the length of the line?

MR. MURRAY:  Per kilometre.  It's a general economic principle.  Generally, the bigger things are, the more efficiencies you have because you won't need two project directors for a thousand kilometre line, you only need one.  And if you have to expense that over a thousand kilometres, it will be less than if you have to expense it over ten kilometres.

MR. RUSSO:  I'm familiar with the economies of scale.  I appreciate your question, but things never are equal, things built in identical terrain across with identical technology.

What you're saying could be true, but it depends entirely on the nature of the project.

MR. MURRAY:  Are you saying that the OEB panel should disregard your benchmark comparison with respect to OM&A because it's all dependant on individual circumstances and you can't compare across various transmitters.  Is that what you're saying?

MR. RUSSO:  That's not what I'm saying.  You posed a hypothetical, which I think represents a situation which is unlikely to occur.  We're talking about individual projects with potentially very different characteristics.

I think the OM&A benchmarking is entirely relevant.  To be clear, I'm not saying it should be disregarded in any way.  You posed a hypothetical that, I think, doesn't accurately reflect the nature of the industry.

MR. MURRAY:  I would like to focus on the OM&A numbers here, and particularly the 3.005 number.  And I know this was discussed yesterday, but I want to follow-up on that.

And as I understand it, this 3 million dollar number is missing approximately 1.94 million dollars of NextBridge's OM&A costs, correct?

MR. RUSSO:  I remember somewhere around two million, but I'll accept it's roughly that, subject to check.  And you're referring to the Indigenous compliance cost, correct?

MR. MURRAY:  You knew where I was going.  I was going to direct you once again to footnote 16 at the bottom --zoom in on it where it reads:
"The new EWT cost also includes expenses for Indigenous participation and compliance costs.  As these are not directly comparable to the other projects and unique to the EWT, they have been excluded from this total."


Did I read that correctly Mr. Russo?

MR. RUSSO:  You read it correctly, that's right.  Just to be clear, the number you suggested for Indigenous compliance was 1.94 million.  That sounds about right, but I might ask Ms. Tidmarsh to confirm that's the right number.  She has a better finger tip feel for that number than I do.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Thank you, Mr. Russo.  I believe from our OM&A budget -- if we can bring that up, and which you brought up previously -- will show you which line items we excluded.  I believe it was -- in your evidence, what was the table?

MR. MURRAY:  All I did was take 4.94 and minus 3.005 and I get 1.935.  But if you want to --


MS. TIDMARSH:  I want to show you the line items.

MR. MURRAY:  Page 173 of the PDF.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So we backed out the .89 and the .44.  And then also in here are the rights payments, as well.  So those are the costs for the 2.82 permits.  I believe we backed those out, subject to check -- someone check my math. Ms. Weinstein always does.

MS. WEINSTEIN:  That's correct.  If you look at this table, essentially the first three lines are what's in the benchmark report, the bottom three lines, 4, 5, and 6, those are not.

MR. MURRAY:  Can I ask, just go back to page 94 of the PDF, back to Mr. Russo's report, and if we can go to the OM&A table, I think it's -- if you scroll down.

So as I said before, footnote 16, which basically said that these are excluded because they're Indigenous participation and compliance costs, and I know there's some discussion of this yesterday, but I just want to follow up on it.

Mr. Russo, I want to confirm whether it was you or NextBridge that determined that the 1.94-million-dollar adjustment should be made to this benchmarking comparison?

MR. RUSSO:  I certainly discussed it with NextBridge.  They are the ones most familiar with the project.  I relied upon their input, but after discussions I was convinced that, you know, the East-West Tie does indeed have unique attributes, traverses First Nations lands, and it has Indigenous participation and compliance costs that were not directly comparable to the other projects that I evaluated.

MR. MURRAY:  And on what basis did you determine it was appropriate to remove almost 40 percent of NextBridge's OM&A costs from this comparison?

MR. RUSSO:  I think I have just given you that answer, which is that I wasn't able to find sufficient evidence in any other projects that I looked at that there was significant large components of Indigenous participation and compliance costs.

MR. MURRAY:  Mr. Russo --


MS. TIDMARSH:  If I may, Mr. Murray --


MR. MURRAY:  Ms. Tidmarsh, I was asking Mr. Russo how he satisfied himself.

MR. VEGH:  I believe she was going to supplement that information.

MR. MURRAY:  That wasn't my question.  My question was asking Mr. Russo how he satisfied himself.  I'm not sure how Ms. Tidmarsh can provide evidence of Mr. Russo on that.

MR. VEGH:  If it's evidence that's relevant [audio dropout] provide it.  If it's not relevant, we can move on.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So I was going to say -- I was going to say Mr. Russo has talked about, he satisfied himself by having conversations with NextBridge and discussing with NextBridge, so the conversations he had with us we did discuss Indigenous -- removing Indigenous participation and Indigenous compliance, so as part of the East-West Tie, I'm sure cast your mind back to the designation in 2013, one of the key -- one of the key criteria for the designation of the East-West Tie was to include Indigenous participation as part of this project.


And so fast-forward, NextBridge also is part of the Long-Term Energy Plan, the 2017 Long-Term Energy Plan.  It indicated that First Nations and Metis communities needed to be involved in economic participation on new transmission lines.  And so NextBridge included in all of its development and all of its construction Indigenous participation, specifically for communities based on the policies of the Ontario government, and also based upon the original designation back in 2013 to include Indigenous participation.

Since this was unique to the East-West Tie in our conversations with Mr. Russo, who originally, to be honest, brought up the idea of removing Indigenous compliance and participation, we corroborated that and agreed that it was a good idea to do, and so we backed that cost out.  I think that's important, Mr. Murray.

MR. MURRAY:  [Audio dropout] he backed that cost out.  Was it Mr. Russo or was it yourself that determined that they should be removed?

MR. RUSSO:  Ms. Tidmarsh's -- I agree with Ms. Tidmarsh's testimony.  That was something I originally questioned, whether it was unique and ought to be backed out.  After discussion with NextBridge I satisfied myself that that was a reasonable approach.

MR. MURRAY:  And other than talking with Ms. Tidmarsh, what did you do to satisfy yourself?

MR. RUSSO:  I reviewed the filings for Niagara and Bruce-Milton, and again, as I testified a few minutes ago, I found no evidence or at least not sufficient evidence to me that there were significant and material Indigenous costs that were comparable to the East-West Tie.

MR. MURRAY:  Given that you were going to be removing 40 percent of the costs, did you make any enquiries of HONI as to whether or not they had similar items that may have been under a different category?

MR. RUSSO:  I relied upon all the public information filed by HONI for Bruce-Milton and Niagara, which was voluminous, but, no, I did not reach out specifically to HONI.

MR. MURRAY:  Before removing 40 percent of the costs.

MR. RUSSO:  It's the same answer I've given you previously.  I relied upon the voluminous public information available.

MR. MURRAY:  Mr. Russo, you are aware that the duty to consult is not something that is unique to northern Ontario, correct?

MR. RUSSO:  Is that a legal question?  What's the context of duty to consult?

MR. MURRAY:  The participation -- Indigenous participation arises from duty to consult, which is enshrined in the Canadian Constitution under section 35, and it applies to all Indigenous groups, not just groups in northern Ontario.

MR. VEGH:  Mr. Murray, interesting position on constitutional law, but I don't think they're talking necessarily about the duty to consult.  It goes beyond that into economic participation, and I don't think Mr. Russo is going to be able to help you much there.  As, you know, he has already indicated, he is not aware of the constitutional requirements or the additional political requirements around, say, reconciliation and economic development, so I don't think the approach of a lecture in constitutional law is really going to be very helpful here.

MR. RUSSO:  I can confidently say that I am completely unqualified to testify on Canadian constitutional matters.  But again, to clarify the answer, there's voluminous filings for both Niagara and Bruce-Milton, and I reviewed a great many of them, and there was just a striking difference in the Indigenous costs associated with the East-West Tie versus Niagara and Bruce-Milton.

MR. MURRAY:  Mr. Russo, are you aware that both the NRLP and Bruce to Milton are partnerships that are involving the local First Nations?

MR. RUSSO:  I know that there is some overlap with First Nations, but again, I just found nothing that -- nothing approaching the level of materiality for Indigenous costs that I found with East-West Tie.

MR. MURRAY:  Mr. Russo, you would agree with me, just because something isn't necessarily found doesn't necessarily mean they don't have those costs?


MR. RUSSO:  Sorry, a word broke out, something that -- something isn't necessarily what?

MR. MURRAY:  Just because in NRLP filing, with B2M filing, there isn't a specific category titled Indigenous participation doesn't mean that those costs aren't somehow embedded within OM&A, just --


UNIDENTIFIED FEMALE SPEAKER:  I believe that 
there's --


MR. MURRAY:  -- classified -- described [audio dropout] --


UNIDENTIFIED FEMALE SPEAKER:  I believe that their application --


THE REPORTER:  Sorry, there's a lot of overtalking.  I missed the end of what you said, Mr. Murray.

MR. MURRAY:  That's a good question.  I don't remember what I said either.  Perhaps I'll back up.

Mr. Russo, you're aware that both B2M and NRLP, those transmission lines are owned by partnership -- owned by various groups, including [audio dropout] Indigenous partners, correct?

MR. RUSSO:  I'm aware that there are some Indigenous partnerships.  I don't know the specific details of those partnerships.

MR. MURRAY:  And you agree with me just because the high-level description of OM&A costs don't necessarily specifically include the line item Indigenous participation or Indigenous compliance doesn't necessarily mean those costs are not incurred as --


MS. WALDING:  Mr. Murray, Mr. Murray, what the information has been reviewed is the same application as what East-West Tie has outlined, and so if there were Indigenous costs we would expect in both the Bruce to Milton and the NRLP to outline those costs, similarly to what we have done, and those costs were not outlined in their applications.

MR. RUSSO:  And Mr. Murray, I wouldn't want to speculate as to whether unspecified costs include Indigenous participation.  Certainly there was -- I would assume that if there were costs they would be in some way detailed or specified, and I didn't find any evidence that they were material.  I'm generally not in the business of sort of individually allocating or speculating as to what Indigenous costs might be if they're not otherwise identified.

MS. TIDMARSH:  To add as well, I know Mr. Murray is reluctant to ask the Indigenous person Indigenous questions, but what I would like to say is when NextBridge did its 28(2)s, so its reserve crossing permits, and during our leave to construct we actually did have this conversation, and it might have been with Mr. Murray as well, about how we satisfied ourselves that our Indigenous costs [audio dropout] include participation more appropriate.  And although that was part of the construction costs, I did mention that NextBridge did an extensive review of the Niagara and the Bruce to Milton projects to try and determine what Hydro One was paying First Nations communities for reserve crossing permits, what First Nations were being paid for participation, and we were unable to find that.  The only instance that we could find of costs were something that happened after the fact, and it was some legal costs around negotiating partnerships.


But other than that we have not been able to find any costs on the public record from Hydro One around benchmarking for what they use for participation and compliance costs, so I would agree with Mr. Russo that this information is not on the public record.

MR. MURRAY:  And subject to check, would you agree that if all OM&A costs were included in the calculation of EWT, that NextBridge's OM&A of 4.94 million would equate to 10 dollars -- 10.98 thousand dollars per kilometre?  If it helps, I believe you already confirmed OEB Staff 27, if you wanted to pull that up.

MR. RUSSO:  Let me see to what you're referring.  Staff 27 relates to productivity factor.

MR. MURRAY:  OEB Staff 27 relates to productivity factor?

MR. RUSSO:  Productivity factor and OM&A deficiencies, and this was a response prepared by NextBridge.  I believe you're referring to Staff 27, part A.

MR. MURRAY:  Part A, the first sentence; I think you confirmed that you used 4.9 equals 10.98K per kilometre.

MR. RUSSO:  It goes on to say the OM&A used in the benchmark study is what yields a comparable result.

MR. MURRAY:  One more question before we leave the benchmark -- and this is for you, Mr. Russo, because you're the one that prepared the report.

Has any adjustment been made to NextBridge's OM&A to account for the fact that NextBridge shares the right of way with HONI on the East-West Tie?

MR. RUSSO:  Not necessary to do so.  The components of the benchmarking, the OM&A benchmarking are the costs incurred by the length of the line.  The costs that are set forth in the benchmarking report incorporate the cost.  So to the extent that right of way sharing is relevant, it's already included.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, I would like to interject for a second.  Sharing; so NextBridge has its own right of way.  Hydro One has its own right of way, and manages its own right of way and access and OM&A costs as part of a completely separate agreement that I'm not privy to, that has its own performance measures and metrics and response times, all the things completely separate from NextBridge.

NextBridge has hired Hydro One as a subcontractor 
to -- or as contractor to manage our OM&A in a certain section of this budget.  So this budget, the entire budget of 4.9 million, only $400,000 of that is allocated to Hydro One.  So it's not a large portion of the budget.

And the rest of our budget does not include any sort of overlap with Hydro One, even though -- and I wouldn't characterize it as sharing our right of way.  Each one has their own companies and their own metrics that they need to follow.

MR. MURRAY:  Ms. Tidmarsh, am I right that, with the exception of the park, essentially your right of way will be pretty much, give or take, beside HONI's right of way?

MS. TIDMARSH:  There are a few other things, yes, but our right of way is parallel to Hydro Ones.  As I mentioned before, those efficiencies would be found as part of our vegetation management and operations and maintenance contract with Hydro One, which is only $400,000 of our entire 4.94-million-dollar operation budget.

MR. MURRAY:  But you would agree -- so for NRLP in some ways, the vegetation is kind of invading from both sides of the line, whereas, if I understand, for the most part on the EWT, one side would be cleared for Hydro One for their line.  So this kind of invasion of the bush and the forest will predominantly come from one side of the East-West Tie.  Is that not correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's not correct.  One of the main differences in our East-West Tie right of way is that we were not to share a right of way with Hydro One.

So in our discussions earlier on with Hydro One, what happened was we did not expand our right of way to include Hydro One's right of way.  In fact, we had to parallel with a buffer zone in between the two with forests.

So although these lines parallel each other, there is actually a forested buffer zone in between the two.  So there is forest between NextBridge's right of way and Hydro One's right of way.  We were not able to just expand Hydro One's current right of way to include the East-West Tie.

MR. MURRAY:  How big is the buffer between the two?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Mr. Mayers?  You might be on mute.

MR. MAYERS:  It varies throughout.

MR. MURRAY:  Can you give me -- are we talking a hundred metres, ten metres, are we talking two kilometres?  Can you give me a general sense?

MR. MAYERS:  It's tens of meters.

MR. MURRAY:  Who is maintaining --


MR. MAYERS:  It can be wider; it can be narrower.  We also have reroutes, particularly around Dorian and around Loon Lake, that take us well outside the existing HONI right of way.

MR. MURRAY:  Can I ask a follow-up?  Who is maintaining the buffer zone?  Is it both of you, or can the cost be shared there?  Are the costs being shared there?

MR. MAYERS:  I think long-term the expectation is that there would be sharing of costs.  But when we first approached HONI to discuss right of way sharing, we were told to get our own right of way throughout, that there would be no overlap to try to reduce the need for additional lands.

We were told to get the necessary right of way to safely operate and maintain our own line.  There is vegetation in some locations, but for the majority of the route, we're abutting right of way with Hydro One.

That doesn't mean that we're still not responsible for the edge of our own right of way, which could add tree growth in it, or any type of vegetation growth.

But to just say you have trees on one side and not the other, that's not correct.  The trees can grow up anywhere along that right of way.

MS. TIDMARSH:  What I would like to add in here as well is as part of good utility practice, when the forested areas -- although we have easements for our own right of way, we do have buffers around those easements and as part of those buffers, it varies.

But I believe if there's a tree that is in that forested area and its height could cause issues, its height could -- it's the same -- I'm a bit of a layman here.  But in your own backyard, if your neighbour's tree is encroaching on you, we need to make sure it's important for us to go ahead and clear those -- clear it.  Toronto Hydro would come in and clear that tree even though it's on the neighbour's property because of good utility practice, we need to make sure it's not going to get into the line.

So who owns the right of way and who doesn't at this point, it's about whose line that vegetation would affect.   So NextBridge has some very detailed information in our environmental assessments and as part of a lot of our land rights on who maintains those buffers.

MS. WALDING:  From a cost perspective, the majority of the costs for the actual right of way, I think it's too simple to think about trees coming in from the right or the left.  It's the actual ground that's underneath the line that is the majority of the cost of what we're trying to maintain.

MR. MURRAY:  Mr. Chair, I have about ten or fifteen minutes left in this section.  Perhaps if we want to take the second morning break now, that would be a good time.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  Let's do that.  It's about 11:45.  We'll take a break until 11:55.
--- Recess taken at 11:44 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:57 a.m.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  Welcome back, everyone.  Mr. Murray, you can proceed, please.
Preliminary Matters:


MR. VEGH:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  If I could just interject.  I did get instructions on the request of VECC supported by CCC on an extension of the time to file submissions, and if I may, I would like to just briefly address that.

DR. ELSAYED:  Please, go ahead, yes.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you.  So NextBridge's initial position is that the current schedule is appropriate, recognize that parties do have other commitments, including OEB proceedings.  On this side we also have other commitments, including court proceedings, whether OEB or otherwise.  However, we will leave this to the Panel.

The one thing we would request, though, is that if there is an extension of time for intervenors and Staff to file their response to the arguments-in-chief, then whatever period that is, that be added to the time as well for NextBridge to do its reply submissions.  There's always a -- they're always kind of in lock step.  So if there is an extension of, say, three days for intervenors to respond, then we would ask that there be a corresponding extension of three days, as an example, for NextBridge to file its reply.

DR. ELSAYED:  Yes, thank you.  That will be the intent, and the Panel discussed it briefly.  We think it is okay to grant that extension, and I would agree with you, Mr. Vegh, that whatever extension we do grant for the final submissions, we will have a corresponding extension for the reply submission by NextBridge.  We will do that likely by a procedural order following this oral hearing to formalize that.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you, sir.

MR. GARNER:  And it's Mark Garner from VECC.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I do appreciate that accommodation.

DR. ELSAYED:  You're welcome.  And with that we'll go back to Mr. Murray.
Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. Murray:


MR. MURRAY:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  If I could ask that we pull up tab 25 of Staff's compendium, or page 145 of the PDF.  And this is a copy of NextBridge's response to Staff interrogatory 30, and in this interrogatory NextBridge was asked to break down the 1.67-million-dollar compliance in administration expenses into various categories, including the project director's office.

And if you look at the response in tab A, NextBridge advises that the annual expense for the project director's office is 627,000 dollars; is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  Now, I don't propose to pull up the references, but at tabs 26 and 27 of Staff's compendium are the -- included the most recent OM&A cost for both B2M and NRLP, and the actual or forecasted 2020 cost for the managing director's office in B2M was 200,000 dollars and in NRLP it's 260,000 dollars.

Can you please explain why NextBridge's expenses for its project director's office are so much higher than the costs of these other one-line transmitters?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So I'll begin, Mr. Murray, by saying I'm not aware of all the assumptions that go into the NRLP and the B2M project director's office.  Perhaps they account for certain items under different line items.  I can't speculate what they actually -- their hours that they use or the personnel or whether they do the exact same functions as the project director here at NextBridge.

What I can say is we discussed earlier about the project director at NextBridge and the amount of work that the project director will be doing over the course of the IR period.  And so again, it's working a long transmission, 450 kilometres, just as a reminder, 450 kilometres of transmission line includes right of way, access roads, the managing.  So as part of this the project director's office actually manages the operations and maintenance staff, and so there's -- in part of our OM&A budget there's two individuals that work on this project, and so to manage those two projects, so the project director's office does as well, so that would be managing the contracts for HONI, managing the work that's being done, oversight project management.

Also, we can talk about what's in the project director's office as well, managing corporate services, so again, managing the audits, managing all those processes as well, so corporate services.  Ms. Weinstein talked a little bit about the audits themselves, the people who do the work, so the project director manages that.  

The project director also manages -- and it's not part of this budget -- also manages all the regulatory filings, so ensures the proper and safe operation of the line.  Project director's office also manages Indigenous relations and manage those personnel.  So there's -- so all of the personnel and the subcontractors, the project director management -- director's office again for such a large project, not only the line itself, but also the access roads, 18 First Nations communities, about a dozen municipalities, and it directs all of the work for that line.  So -- but again, I'll reiterate, and we don't -- you're not turning up the tabs, but I don't know precisely what is in the entire OM&A budget for NRLP or B2M and how they allocate those tasks.  It may not be in the project director's office, but I can't speculate.

MR. MURRAY:  Can I ask a follow-up question?  In reaching the 627,000-dollar number, did you develop some sort of bottom-up budget in terms of how many hours you would spend and how much is being charged to NextBridge, how much is heard for the office lease, how much is for equipment?  Is there some sort of bottom-up budget that kind of explains how you arrived at 627?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So as part of the budget in 627 we discussed -- and you can see in the answers below as well in B and C, we talk about the project director's labour, the project director's analyst, and the work that they're only allocating 75 percent of their productive time, so that's included in the project directors.  There is also information in there -- there's also line items in there for office rent, which is included.  There is also -- there's also as part of that budget -- office rent -- I believe the audit is in there.

Ms. Weinstein, can you outline a bit more?  I think I'm forgetting something.

MS. WEINSTEIN:  Sure.  Yes.  In the project director's office we do have the actual staff itself, so the project director's office, and then the office rent, and then audit fees, and again, those are things we don't know how Bruce to Milton or Niagara classified, because the project director's office is -- essentially, it's subjective term.  We don't know.  It's -- our categorization is apples to apples with theirs on what they've included as project director versus what we have.

MR. MURRAY:  I heard you refer to a line item.  Do you have some sort of table that breaks down the 627 million further in terms of how much you're spending on rent, how much you're spending on salaries, how -- is there a -- do you have that somewhere at NextBridge in terms of how you came up with this number?  So is there something that breaks this down further, a bottom-up budget?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, NextBridge has the information to come up with the 627,000.

MR. MURRAY:  Can I ask by way of undertaking that you provide that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We can do that, yes.  It will be the line items that I just discussed, so to be clear, it will be the cost for the project director, project director's analyst.  It will also be the cost for the office and cost for audit --


MR. MURRAY:  Are there any -- are there any -- sorry, are there any NEET costs in there?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I just wanted to ask Ms. Weinstein a quick question first.  Is that -- am I correct that those are line items that we will see if we break down the project director's office?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  That's correct.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Thank you.

And so, Mr. Murray, your question was NEET costs, so the labour costs -- I think we've discussed this.  The labour costs are NEET costs, and so, yes, there will be NEET-related costs as part of that line item.

MR. MURRAY:  And before we go any further I think we should mark that as an undertaking, so it will be Undertaking J3.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.4:  TO PROVIDE A BOTTOM-UP BUDGET THAT SHOWS THE DERIVATION OF THE 627 MILLION; TO INCLUDE ESTIMATES OF NEET CHARGES; TO PROVIDE A BREAKDOWN OF THE CORPORATE SERVICES AMOUNT

MR. MURRAY:  And within the NEET costs can you break down in terms of the number of hours that are spent and the rate that's going to be charged?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So, no, that's not included as part of the estimate for these costs on labour hours.  So the cost of labour hours you can see in again the answers to B and C are 75 percent of the time of project director's labour is included in there, and so you won't see a unit cost on how much the project director makes and the allocations listed as 75 percent of those project director's costs are included.

MR. MURRAY:  Second item, property owner relations, $169,000.  Can you please elaborate on the nature -- I'm going to proceed down a number of these, so it may be easier to do this by way of undertaking to the extent you already have line items that break this cost down further.

Do you have a budget that kind of breaks down property owner relations and how you arrived at the 169,000 dollar number?  Do you have sort of a bottom up budget that explains it's $50,000 on NEET-related labour, $20,000 on office supplies, do you have that somewhere?

MS. SCHWAEBE:  Mr. Murray, I can answer that question.  For property relations, we do have a line item.  In that 169,000, there's 141,000 which is associated with owning the right of way on Crown land in perpetuity, so that's determined by the Ministry of Northern Development and Forestry, MNRS, that determines the cost for that rental which is annual.  So that's 141,000.

The remaining 28,000 is associated with mail-outs and upkeeping our public awareness program with landowners.  So that can be further broken down and can be included in the IR studies undertaking.

MR. MURRAY:  Can I move on to the next one?  I think it's Dr. Higgin asked for this, and I understand some of these non-Indigenous public stakeholder relations, some of those may be NEET-related costs.

But similar to the other things, is there a way we can break down the $254,000 non-Indigenous stakeholder relations in terms of how you came up with that number, and what goes into that?

Is that possible?  Do you have that budget somewhere where you can provide it by way of undertaking?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, we do have that budget, and I would like to expand on what you'll see in that budget and what you will see in stakeholder relations.

You'll see -- we did discuss the website, so there's the website.  There also outreach to all our landowners, our municipalities, the people who -- to clarify landowners, they're characterized as people we have land agreements with.

The residents, the customers of the areas around the East-West Tie, so municipalities were also -- as part of our outreach there, will also be including periodic mailings to these communities.  There will also be trips up north for face-to-face conversations with some of the project director staff, as well as people in the area.

So we can further break that down for you.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be also part of J3.4?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  Within that, what I'm particularly interest in -- this may involve -- I understand from Dr. Higgin's questions that this may involve NEET-related costs.

So to the extent it's not clear on the line item, to the extent it's a significant amount, let's say to the NEET labour is more than $50,000, are you able to break down in terms of how you arrived at the NEET labour cost in terms of how much hours you'll be spending and what will be done, and also the cost per hour that you'll be charging NextBridge?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I think you're looking for very granular details on the actual hours that individuals will work and what their labour rates would be.  So I think -- Ms. Weinstein, do we have that information?  I'm not sure we estimated it that way.

MS. WEINSTEIN:  As estimate of the expected labour, but I want to be clear that the labour that will come through from the NEET agreement will be a direct charge based on the exact person and amount of hours they have spent on it, and their actual payroll will flow through.

So you can have accountant A and accountant B work on the project for one hour each.  But if they have a different salary, that's going to flow through at a different amount.

So I want to be clear the NEET agreement is not like a stated labour rate per head or anything like that.  It's going to be the actual cost of the person.

MR. MURRAY:  Can that be supplied as an undertaking, the same undertaking, J3.4?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  What exactly did you want us to add?

MR. MURRAY:  I'm sorry, perhaps this is already on the line item.  What I would be interested in -- so for example, if out of the $254,000 for non-Indigenous stakeholder relations, if $100,000 of that is NEET service time, I don't need the granularity of each person working on the project and what their hourly rate it.

I assume if you have such a large number, say $100,000 for NEET employees' time for NEET's kind of charging rates, you would within that have an assumption of we think we're going to have to work a thousand hours on these items and the average charge rate will be approximately $100.

Do you have something like that, either within the table or can you provide that as part of the undertaking?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  We'll have to review our estimates for this, and then we can provide what we have in the undertaking.

MR. MURRAY:  The last item, if I can just add this on to the undertaking.  It's the same question, to see what you have in terms of how you came up with the corporate services, 558,000.  I know there has been general description in terms of some of the tasks you performed.  But I'd like it broken down in terms of how you came up with the $558,000.

If that can also be part of the undertaking, I would appreciate it.

MS. WEINSTEIN:  Just to be clear for the undertaking, essentially what we're looking at in part A, the five bullets under there, you would like a breakdown of each, correct?

MR. MURRAY:  I'm not so interested in the insurance expense.  But the other --


MS. WEINSTEIN:  Okay.  Got it.

MR. MURRAY:  Since we're on the topic of the NEET agreement, I'd like to follow up on that.  As I understand it, NextBridge intends to enter into a service level agreement with its affiliate NextEra, is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  And I understood -- and we can pull it up, maybe we'll pull it up.  If you can pull up SEC IR response 6D.

MR. VEGH:  Just while you're pulling that up, you used the term "affiliate".  I don't want to be overly legalistic, but the meaning of affiliate in the OEB Act is a defined term, and so the witnesses aren't lawyers so you could expect people will speak a little more loosely about what they mean by affiliate in these sorts of exchanges than how the OEB defines affiliate.

MR. MURRAY:  Understood.  I wasn't trying to use it in the technical legal meaning.  I was parroting words from SEC's interrogatory.  Have we pulled up SEC 6?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We're still working on it.

MR. MURRAY:  Perhaps I can quote from it.  In answer part B to this, you were asked for information about the NEET agreements and in part B, you advise that the costs have been set as part of competitive procurement and just the commercial terms of the agreement are being finalized.

Do you recall saying that, or ask the question based on that response?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I recall saying that.  I would like to see it, though, Mr. Murray.  Can we wait?  I would like to see it in the full context.

MR. MURRAY:  Part B, the first sentence.  So two questions on this.  First, this deals with competitive procurement, and you describe this competitive procurement that took place.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.  Again, as part of the NEET agreement -- and I think I talked about this in the hearing, it could have been the first day.  I talked about how we determined the cost that were part of the OM&A.

And we had -- we ran three different scenarios.  The first scenario was that NEET would do all the work, so they would do a hundred percent of all of the OM&A operations, including vegetation management.

The second one was that we would put out to competitive tender.  We would get bids from the outside marketplace to have them do all the OM&A, so minimal oversight from NextBridge under -- with minimal oversight from NextBridge, but they would do that and we would have a third party do all the work.

And the final one was a hybrid, a split between the two, where we would go out to competitively tender a portion of the work and that NextBridge would then manage the rest.  And so we costed out those three models using all of the competitive pricing that we received from the marketplace when we ran our competitive procurement for our operations and maintenance, and determined that the costs that were to be charged by NEET were actually more competitive and more -- there was more cost savings to have NEET do portions of the work than it would be for -- to outsource that completely.  And so we came up with a hybrid model where NEET did portions of the work, and in the end we would be hiring Hydro One and Supercom to do other portions of the work.

MR. MURRAY:  So the portions that NEET are doing, did you ever go out with an RFP and say, here is our supplies we've identified, you can do what NEET is now going to do, and ask them to bid?  Was that done in this case?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So as part of the NEET costs, those are the same costs that we've actually been using during our construction period, and we actually did price out costs that, for example, our partners could do, so would it be NextEra could do these at a certain cost or could Enbridge do them at a certain cost, and so knowing our rates from our construction period, we determined that NextBridge -- sorry, NextEra could -- you have to excuse me.  I blend the two sometimes -- so that NextEra could do the work competitively compared to the rates of our other partners.

MR. MURRAY:  But I understand from that [audio dropout] what you do is maybe compared how much NextEra would be toward if Enbridge was basically doing these, but you didn't go independently as part of an RFP and kind of ask other third parties, non-partners, as what they could do in terms of those costs, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So the costs that we did have in front of us were the costs that we received from Hydro One and from the other vendors that came from our competitive procurement process, the costs that we had from Enbridge partnership and NextEra's own costs, and comparing those costs together, it was determined that NextEra could do portions of this at a more competitive rate than its partners or the costs that we received from our competitive process for the operations and management contract.

MR. MURRAY:  Sorry, Ms. Tidmarsh, it's probably me, because I'm coming close to lunch and getting hungry, but I'm still confused.  So NEET is going to provide certain services.  Were those ever -- was an RFP ever issued for those costs outside of what I call the NextBridge partnership?  So do, like, did HONI have an opportunity to bid on that?  Did other parties have an opportunity to bid on those services that are right now being provided to be provided by NEET?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So it is a little -- so we did not send an RFP out for NEET, for the NEET portion, but we did send an RFP out for the operations and maintenance of the line.  And so we received rates back, and I believe in some of the evidence, I think it was three bidders that we received back, so we received rates back for management of the line.  And so we compared those costs and what those costs would be for certain aspects of management.  We also had the cost benchmarks from what we had done in our construction cost and our partner Enbridge and determined that it was cost-competitive to go ahead and have a hybrid model where NEET would perform some of the tasks and Hydro One Supercom would perform some of the tasks, and it was the least cost model.

MR. MURRAY:  I think I'm still not entirely there, but I think I understood that.  There was no specific RFP on the NEET services, I'll call that?

MR. VEGH:  Mr. Murray, you've asked this question about four times.  Ms. Tidmarsh had explained that there was a competitive procurement process.  It may not be the simple RFP comparison that you're referring to, but, you know, business is usually more complicated than the simple models, but I think she's explained the competitive process and how they satisfied themselves that they ended up with the lowest cost or highest value solution, and asking the same question over and over again about what an RFP might look like is, I don't think, very fruitful.

MR. MURRAY:  But to move back to discuss the Interrogatory No. 6, and that hooks on the second part of this, where you basically say that the commercial terms of the agreement have been finalized -- sorry, the costs have been finalized, but the commercial terms, which I understand to mean sort of the legalese hasn't been.  Is that still the case?  I understand it is, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  Can you undertake to provide a copy of the costs that have been set as part of the competitive procurement process?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, I don't understand what you're asking.  So are you looking for -- and we just talked about competitive procurement process and the determination.  Are you looking for Enbridge's costs?  Are you looking for all of the costs that we used from the OM&As or Hydro One and Supercom and all of those --


MR. MURRAY:  Sorry, what --


MS. TIDMARSH:  -- those bidders -- sorry, let me finish -- or are you looking for specifically NEET's costs for doing this work, and if you're looking specifically for NEET's cost, you'll be seeing some of those costs when we provide our undertaking about breaking down all of the NEET labour rates in our compliance administration budget.  Is that what you're looking for?

MR. MURRAY:  So in response, Ms. Tidmarsh, I'm not looking for what everyone -- what Enbridge said.  I'm looking -- I understand there's some sort of rates that NEET is going to charge, and I'd ask that those be filed with the Board.  It may be that they're already going to be filed as part of the previous undertaking, in which case they could just be subsumed to the previous undertaking, I think, from the earlier day, but my understanding is some sort of rates that have been agreed to in terms of the counting X will charge this much and, I don't know, as a senior finance person they'll charge this rate per hour.  I understand those kind of costs have been agreed to.  It's just the contract shell has not.  So I would ask that kind of the terms be filed if they can.

MS. WALDING:  Once again, Mr. Murray, the agreement is not a set rate agreement.  It's based off of the employee that is working on that.  It comes as a direct cost of their labour cost, and so I just want to make sure we're all clear that it is not a set amount that we're going to be charged.

MR. MURRAY:  I'm just -- I appreciate you can file whatever you have.

MS. WALDING:  Okay.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Undertaking J3.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.5:  TO FILE THE RATES THAT NEET IS GOING TO CHARGE.

MR. MURRAY:  The last issue I want to talk about in terms of OM&A is that it relates to the HONI agreement.  If I could ask that we pull up Staff tab 28, or page 163 of the PDF.  And this is the second page of an answer to an undertaking where Energy Probe asked you some questions related to the maintenance service agreement that was awarded to HONI and Supercom, and I would like to focus very much near the bottom of the page under -- just down a little bit further -- exactly, those last four lines that we see now in part A.  That's what I'm focusing on.  It seems to say that there were five bidders for the RFP and that you received three bids; is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That is correct, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  And --


MS. TIDMARSH:  So there was five bidders and -- but, yes, so we went out to market, sorry, to -- for five bidders, and they in turn -- only three of them decided to come back.

MR. MURRAY:  And presumably you sent the RFP out to those five entities because Enbridge felt each of them could potentially provide the needed services, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So NextBridge sent those RFPs out to the five bidders from -- based on experience of local community -- or local organizations in northwestern Ontario, also the experience of NextEra and Enbridge, who they've worked with, and to be clear, that RFP actually was run through our partner Supercom.  So Supercom does a lot of the procurements for the East-West Tie, and so Supercom on their website posted that RFP, so it was actually a public RFP, and we received some bids from some potential bidders that we had -- didn't identify ourselves, so it was a very widespread net.

MR. MURRAY:  And then if you look at the next line it says the bids were between 300- and 400,000, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  And HONI was not the lowest bid, was it?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Hydro One was not the lowest bid.  However -- and I think we've probably explained it above -- Hydro One was not the lowest -- or below -- was not the lowest cost bid.  However, there were other criteria that NextBridge used to determine who would be the right service provider for our operations and maintenance.

MR. MURRAY:  Am I right that HONI was actually the most expensive bid?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I don't believe we've said that, no.

MR. MURRAY:  Because I think the bids were between 3- and 400,000, and HONI was 400,000, so that would make me believe that they were the most expensive.

MS. TIDMARSH:  I think the bids we received were on a time and materials basis, so I don't believe -- I don't know if each one of those rates were more expensive than the others.  So I don't know if they were the most expensive or which rates, if we slice and dice them.  But the cost range of 300 to 400 was our basis of putting together those rates to determine what the OM&A budget would be.

MR. MURRAY:  I don't recall exactly which interrogatory, but I know in one of the interrogatories, you provide an explanation why you selected HONI, including the fact that they obviously they had experience in the area.

I want to ask a slightly different question.  There was a lower bid than HONI's.  Can you explain what was wrong with the bid, or why did you not select that bid?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That bid -- the other bids did not have appropriate Indigenous participation as one of the criteria we needed.

Also I think those bids may have underestimated the amount of work, or I believe some of the bids discussed perhaps purchasing of storage yards where Hydro One had a storage yard we could use.  So I think those are some of the criteria we used.  So we used some qualitative and some quantitative amounts to determine who would be the best service provider here.

MR. MURRAY:  I recall you saying to Mr. Rubenstein on Monday that the HONI Supercom has essentially been finalized, but has to go to the Hydro One board of directors.  Did I get that right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  The agreement has been finalized, but needs to go to the Hydro One board of directors for approval in May.

MR. MURRAY:  With the caveat that obviously has not been signed off on by the Hydro One Board, can you undertake to provide a copy of that agreement?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We would need to have a conversation with Hydro One to determine their comfort in allowing the agreement between the two of us, their comfort in providing that information.

MR. MURRAY:  Will you undertake to speak with Hydro One and if they are comfortable with filing it, that it would be filed?  And I would also note that when you speak with Hydro One, Hydro One will be aware that to the extent there are any confidentiality concerns, you can also make a claim that is to be filed pursuant to the practice direction.

MS. TIDMARSH:  We can undertake to have a conversation with Hydro One about filing the draft agreement.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be undertaking J3.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.6:  TO CONVERSE WITH HYDRO ONE ABOUT FILING THE DRAFT AGREEMENT


MR. MURRAY:  I want to go back to one thing.  There was discussion of a NEET cost and how they compare to others.  Do you have some sort of analysis that compares what NEET's cost would have been to Enbridge's -- to any other partners that were considered as part of this process?  Do you have a document that shows that in terms of how you analyzed -- sorry?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We have no formal analysis that would compare a table with all the other costs as part of it.  And again I'd reiterate that a lot of those costs would be confidential.  So costs we received as part of that RFP that we did to determine the costs to benchmark against those, that's under an RFP confidentiality.

So we don't have that type of information that we can share.  Similarly, with costing from Enbridge, I believe Enbridge wouldn't allow to us share their costing information,

So we don't have a formal analysis that we can share with you.

MR. MURRAY:  Is there some sort of chart where you've compared what NextEra's costs assuming their services were extended.   Does that exist?

MS. TIDMARSH:  It does not exist.

MR. MURRAY:  Then how do you compare -- if Enbridge did these items versus NextEra, how did you determine NextEra would be lower?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I'm going to sound really lame here, but I opened up the RFP and we opened up the rates we use for NextEra, and we opened up the rates for Enbridge, and we looked at them across and determined who would be cheaper and then for the number of hours.

So there is no formal analysis.  It was an observation -- not an observation, but an analysis of those three costs together to determine which ones were cheaper for doing which activities.

MR. MURRAY:  Is there any analysis in writing?

MS. TIDMARSH:  There is not, no.

MR. MURRAY:  Mr. Chair, I have one short area I was hoping to get through before lunch but I realize we are already at the lunch break.

I don't know if you would like me to go through the next area, which will take ten or fifteen minutes, or whether it would be more appropriate to break for lunch now.

DR. ELSAYED:  We'll break for lunch now and resume after.  It is roughly 12:30 now.  Let's resume at 1:30 and you can continue.  
--- Lunch break at 12:33 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:33 p.m.

DR. ELSAYED:  Welcome back, everyone.  I'll turn it over to you, Mr. Murray, to continue with your cross.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  If I can ask that we pull up compendium tab 1 or page 41 of the PDF, which is page 33 of the filing -- Chapter 2 filing requirements.  And if I can ask that we focus on the top paragraph here, and I will read from it:

"As per the 2019 (sic) report, the OEB issues the cost-of-capital parameter updates for cost-of-service applications.  Transmitters should use the most recent parameters as a place holder, subject to an update, if new parameters are available, prior to the issuance of the OEB's decision for a specific transmitter's application."

Now, I'm hoping that we can agree that the OEB's general policy is that the cost-of-capital parameters should be updated when available.  Can we have agreement on that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So Mr. Murray, I'm sorry, I don't think that was our understanding.  The question is are you -- you're seeking for us to agree that we should be updating the cost-of-capital parameters when they're available?

MR. MURRAY:  That's the OEB -- no, I'm asking is your agreement that the OEB's general policy is that they should be updated when available?

MR. VEGH:  Mr. Lawren (sic), rather than asking the general policy question, because these policies are in a different, you know -- in decisions and in guidelines, perhaps as a more specific question for NextBridge as to what its proposal is to...

MR. MURRAY:  I will ask another question.  I read the top paragraph of page 33, the filing requirements, and you would have been aware of that requirement or that expectation of the OEB in this top paragraph when you filed your rate application on November 4th, would you not?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So, yes, we would be aware of what's contained in the filing guidelines when we filed our application.

MR. MURRAY:  And NextBridge would have been aware of changes to the cost-of-capital parameters which occurred five days later, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  NextBridge was not aware of those cost-of-capital parameters, what was contained in the cost-of-capital parameters, when it filed its application on November the 4th.

MR. MURRAY:  But you would have been aware of them five days later, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  They came -- those cost-of-capital parameters came out and we saw them; that's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  And I understand from your testimony a couple days ago that NextBridge says that the rates need to be locked in to assist your Indigenous partners to apply for loan financing.  Did I have that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.  So as part of our testimony we talked about the Ontario Financing Authority's Aboriginal loan guarantee program, and our Indigenous partners seeking financing as well, so our Indigenous partners have asked us to lock in our ROEs to help them obtain access to the funding under the ALGP, as well as obtain fair [audio dropout] financing for the project.

MR. MURRAY:  Has Bamkushwada applied for this loan with the Ontario Financing -- or this loan guarantee with the Ontario Financing Authority as of today's date?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I believe they are in the process.  I don't know the status.  They are handling that themselves.

MR. MURRAY:  I guess I'll ask this a different way.  Did they apply for this loan with Ontario Finance Authority between November 4th, 2020 when you filed your application with the OEB and November 9th, 2020 when the OEB released its 2021 cost-of-capital parameters.  Did they file a loan application with the OFA during that five-day period?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So again, I'm not aware.  I'm not aware of if they filed, when they filed, or when they intend to file.  What I am aware of, because they're looking after that themselves, what I am aware of is what they asked of us and what they needed to seek favourable financing and to be part of the ALGP program.

MR. MURRAY:  Did they ask you this in writing?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No, they did not.

MR. MURRAY:  Can you advise as to when they asked you this?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We've had a series of conversations with Bamkushwada over the past year or so as they begin to do their financing work.  I can't pinpoint on to an exact day of when they asked us.

MR. MURRAY:  Has Bamkushwada asked the Ontario Finance Authority whether it could update this ROE for the current 2021 cost-of-capital deemed return on equity of 8.34 percent?  Have they asked whether or not that would cause an issue?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Again, Mr. Murray, I am not aware of any of the conversations that Bamkushwada has had with the Ontario Financing Authority in regards to the Aboriginal loan guarantee program.  I'm not aware of the status of their application and I'm not aware of the conversations.  All NextBridge is aware of is their request for an ROE that was locked in so that they could receive favourable financing, as well as apply to the ALGP program.  They asked us that verbally in a series of meetings over the past year.  I don't have that in writing.

MR. MURRAY:  Would you ask them whether or not updating to 8.34 percent will cause an issue with their financing?  Have you asked them that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I did not ask them that, no.

MR. MURRAY:  If I can ask you to turn to tab 32 of staff's compendium, or page 175 of the PDF.  After we heard about the issue about -- or the issue of the Aboriginal loan guarantee program raised on Monday, I went and I pulled from the Ontario Financing (sic) website a copy of the overview of the program, and I would like to focus on the fifth bullet -- before we do this, I want to confirm that in terms of the Aboriginal -- or the program you were describing a couple of days ago and also earlier today, is this the right program that I have here?  Is this -- I believe it is.  This is the program that you're referring to, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, it looks to be the same.

MR. MURRAY:  And if you look at the fifth bullet down, it states:

"Loan guarantees are provided under the program no earlier than at the point of financial close for the project, after regulatory approvals are in place and at the same time, or after, all other financing is put in place."

Now, this bullet suggests that the final decision of any application for a loan guarantee is still a long way off, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Mr. Murray, again, I will say that Bamkushwada is managing the application of the Aboriginal loan guarantee program themselves.  NextBridge is not involved in the application at all.  They are doing their own application, they are doing their own modelling, they have had their own conversations with the ALGP and the OFA -- or, sorry, the OFA.  NextBridge is not aware of any -- this is the first I've seen of this.  We are not experts in the Aboriginal loan guarantee program, and we have not been supporting them in their application at all, so I don't know and I can't speculate as to the conversations they've had and what they've been asked for from the OFA.

MR. MURRAY:  Has the OFA -- as far as you're aware, has the OFA advised either NextBridge or Bamkushwada that updating to the OEB's 2021 cost-of-capital parameters would lead to the loan financing application being rejected?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Mr. Murray, again, I have not had any conversations with the Ontario Financing Authority, nor have I had conversations with Bamkushwada about their conversations with the Ontario Financing Authority.  All I can tell you is what Bamkushwada has asked of us and what we have put into this application.  I don't know anything more than that.

MR. MURRAY:  When Bamkushwada asked this of you did you advise them that the cost-of-capital parameters are updated each year in usually October or November?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I did not advise them of that.  I let them know that we would add this to our application.

MR. MURRAY:  And since this has become an issue and people have asked you to update the cost-of-capital parameters to 2021, have you revisited the issue with them and asked whether or not it will cause a problem with their financing?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So I don't believe I've actually been formally asked to update my cost-of-capital parameters -- or NextBridge's cost-of-capital parameters as part of this.  The Board has not directed us to do that, and we do not have a final order, so I'm not aware of any reason why I would tell them that they had to go ahead and do that.

MS. WALDING:  If I can just add to the bullet 5, as just I read it, this is my first interpretation of it.  But to me, it reads as this is when they actually get the money from the loan.  So this is part of the reason why we are submitting an early application, so the finance can close and they can get the money to buy into the project.

So I read it very differently than their application for it.  I read this as when they actually get the proceeds.

MR. MURRAY:  Ms. Tidmarsh, other than your conversations with Bamkushwada, is there any letter or any other documentary evidence on the record which suggests that if the ROE is not updated to 2021, that will in any way impact their ability to get financing?  Is there any actual physical letter or something on the record of that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No, Mr. Murray, and I'm not sure who the letter would be from.  There is no letter -- again I've had no contact with the Ontario financing authority.  I have had no conversations with Bamkushwada that would indicate they won't be able to get financing because they are the ones having the conversations with the OFA.  There is nothing here I can provide you, a letter or written, or anything I've been aware of.

I just know what I was asked do, and what NextBridge put into our application to assist our partners, and that's it.

MR. MURRAY:  Let's go on to a new topic, and this topic relates to a series of tables in Staff's compendium starting at tab 6 and continuing on to tab 11.

In the interests of time, I'm not planning to go through these tables which have been provided to my friends at NextBridge in advance.  And the reason we have a revised compendium is they identify a small issue with the numbers, and these tables have been updated to principally address that.

Given what -- you had a conversation with Mr. Rubenstein a couple of days ago on a similar table, and I am not planning or proposing to go through this.

But I was hoping we could confirm on the record that for the first tables, tables 1 through 4, that NextBridge takes no issue with the math.  There are certain assumptions which these numbers break out, but in terms of the mathematical calculations, NextBridge doesn't take issue with the math in tables 1 through 4.  Can we agree on that?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  I think there's --


MS. WALDING:  Go ahead, Ms. Weinstein.

MS. WEINSTEIN:  I was going to add in overall, I think there was some questions we had on how rate base was calculated, and I think that ripples through all the tables.  So now is as good a time as any to bring that up.

The average rate base, it looks like in table 2, which I think drives the calculations on the other ones -- actually, can we flip to Table 2, the next tab?

It appears the average rate base from 2022, that 770.4 was brought forward.  The opening rate base for 2023 as 770.4 as well versus the closing rate base balance.  And again, the 2022 opening rate based on 775 is accurate.  The depreciation there appears to be a half year, essentially an average.  I think that would need to be a full year.  And then you would have your closing rate based on [audio dropout] difference in those two, and then take an average.  So I think that impacts the rest of the years of rate base.

MR. MURRAY:  Hold on for a second.  I want to check something.  If you can give me a minute -- just as there are challenges with the witness panel conferring, the technical environment also challenges Staff in trying to speak with one another.  So I beg your indulgence.

So I spoke or tried to communicate with one of my Staff members and perhaps Mr. Vegh can help.

My understanding is that we changed these numbers on these tables in response to a specific request by Mr. Vegh at the end of last week.

MR. VEGH:  Perhaps I can answer.  You asked NextBridge, as well as a number of intervenors sent over some materials requesting on very short notice to be advised if there are any issues with respect to the math.

The advice was the math -- there aren't any mathematical issues, but that didn't address whether the analysis is correct, or the assumptions, or the going forward projections were correct.  It was simply a limited request on math, and frankly that's all we could do under that timeline anyway.

But Ms. Weinstein can address that by way of background of what is -- what she was about to address before I interrupted her.

MS. WEINSTEIN:  I think the rate base comment I just made, I think it was something we sent last week when asked to review these.  So perhaps the table in the compendium is still the same, but this was one of the comments we provided last week on the opening and average rate base balances.

MR. MURRAY:  Does this have a material impact on the numbers?  Or are we talking minor effect?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  From experience throughout, the rate base is essentially the driver for the return calculation, so I do think it does impact every table and would change the numbers.

MR. MURRAY:  Ms. Weinstein, under your analysis, what would be the opening rate base for 2023?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  For 2023, it would be 765 million, which is essentially our closing rate base from '22 which is in our application.  I can find the reference, if that's easier.  It's in our rate base section where we demonstrate opening year depreciation and closing, and then the average of that opening and closing is the 770 shown here.

I think the issue here is if you look at 2022, closing and average are the same numbers, so perhaps they were just overlapped, cut and pasted, or something like that.

MR. MURRAY:  I'm looking to see whether or not the old compendium actually had -- I'm trying to check because we filed an original compendium, and I think the original compendium had the numbers you're now raising.

I'm just trying to confirm with Staff if that's the case, in which case maybe we will ask it be marked as an exhibit and pulled up.  If you can give me a minute.

Is it possible to pull up a copy of what I call the original compendium, the original Staff compendium which we filed on Friday, because I believe that has the number Ms. Weinstein is making reference to now.

Before we mark a new exhibit, I want to make sure this addresses Ms. Weinstein's issue.  As I understand, we made the alteration --


MS. WEINSTEIN:  I think this looks the same, in which our column 2022, the closing and average are both 770, and that's what gets brought up to 2023 opening.  It might help if we pull the application, Exhibit C, tab 1, schedule 1, page 3.

This is what I'm referring to, where our opening is the 774.9 and then the year of depreciation of 9-3 your closing is 765.9.  The average of the two is where the 770.4 comes in, so that's actually an average [audio dropout] you want to bring the closing balance to 765.9 to be your opening for 23.

MR. MURRAY:  But do I have this right that the average rate base is still right?  It's just the closing average?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  So average rate base for 22 is correct, but then if your opening balance for 23 is not correct, that will throw off the average for every year going forward, so 23 right now in the compendium starts at 770, versus starting with 765.  Now every time you take an average, starting off [audio dropout] opening balance you'll get a slightly different number.

MR. MURRAY:  Would it be possible -- it's quite difficult to kind of debate these issues on the fly in terms of numbers.  Would it be possible for -- by way of undertaking for NextBridge to provide a response updating the tables to what they say the numbers should be, based upon the assumptions [audio dropout]


MS. WEINSTEIN:  I think that's --


THE REPORTER:  I'm sorry, I'm sorry, I'm sorry, I missed the end of what you said, Mr. Murray.  Based on?


MR. MURRAY:  I'm asking -- based upon what they say the numbers should be.

MR. VEGH:  Mr. Murray, there have been a number of undertakings already during your cross-examination, and NextBridge did provide you with information initially when you prepared these tables.  And I don't know if it's really fair to have the NextBridge witnesses have to update your materials to -- in this application.  So you put them forward, and again, the witnesses have, you know, just had three days of this, prepared a lot of undertakings at your request that I understand will take considerable time to prepare, and I think it's a bit much, frankly, for them to now fix up your materials.

The answer is -- the initial answer is, no, I don't think we're prepared to provide that undertaking.

MR. MURRAY:  Mr. Vegh [audio dropout] prepared offline for us to provide you with another set which we think corrects this issue, and then you can identify anything else before we file our submission, because the last thing I want us to do is for Staff to file a submission with new numbers and then you reply to address issues and then the Board is left in a situation where they don't have a set of numbers that people agreed upon.

We're quite prepared to update based on what we understand this issue to be.  I don't believe it will have a material effect, but in any event, I think it would be good to kind of get one set of numbers that everyone can agree upon, and so to the extent we can kind of update it and you can just review it and tell us whether or not you have further issues.  Is that something we can do offline before Staff files their submission?

MR. VEGH:  I think I would have to -- I would have to speak offline to get instructions on this.

MR. MURRAY:  Perhaps --


MR. VEGH:  We haven't used the chat room.  Perhaps we can do that, recognizing that I will be participating because I'm trying to get -- seek instructions, not speak about the evidence with the witnesses.

MR. MURRAY:  Understood.  I don't have an objection to that.

MS. SANASIE:  Okay.  I'll open the room for the witnesses and for Mr. Vegh to join them as well.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you.

MR. MURPHY:  Actually, this is Brian Murphy.  I'd like to join as well.

MS. SANASIE:  Sure.

[Witness panel confers]


DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  Mr. Murray, are you ready to resume?

MR. MURRAY:  Yes.  Mr. Vegh, Mr. Vegh, is there something you wanted to speak to, or -- I'm prepared to continue if...

MR. VEGH:  Well, you had asked for an undertaking, Mr. Murray, and I wanted to consult with my clients on instructions.  And again, this is the type of information that's usually collected through interrogatories sometimes prior to the hearing.  You did ask that we -- NextBridge provide -- advise of mathematical issues, and I understand that the issues being discussed now are issues that were provided to you, so we don't think it's appropriate to request and to offer an undertaking to correct your errors at this stage.  Having said that, Panel, and this is directed to the Commissioners, not to Mr. Murray, if the Commissioners would find it helpful so that they can evaluate the views on this, what NextBridge would be prepared do is to provide the opening, closing, and average value of rate base for every year during the term.  NextBridge is not prepared to go through the -- I wouldn't call it manipulation, but I can't think of another word for it -- of all those figures in the rest of this compendium that are derived at proving some point that Staff wants to make.

But if you want the -- if the Commissioners would find it helpful to have the data for the opening, closing, and average rate base for every year, NextBridge would be prepared to provide that information.

MR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  Before we respond to that, I would like to hear what Mr. Murray has to say about this option.

MR. MURRAY:  Perhaps we may not need an undertaking on this issue.  I think what Staff is tripped up on is there seems to be miscommunication as to what is the opening and closing rate base that NextBridge says should be in 2023.  
I think if we can get that year, everything flows out of that year.  So what we're really trying to figure out is what does NextBridge say is the opening and closing and maybe the average rate base in 2023.

Is that something that Ms. Weinstein can speak to now, in which case we can probably address everything else ourselves.

MR. VEGH:  Ms. Weinstein?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  Yes, I think we can get there.

MR. MURRAY:  What is the -- what is the opening and closing rate base that you say should be in Table 2 for --


MS. WEINSTEIN:  I think starting at 2022, I would want to take the closing balance from what we were just looking at in the application, the 765.

MR. MURRAY:  Rather than 770, 765 is the closing, is that right?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  Yes, 765.8 I believe, which is essentially the 775.1 that you start with less 9.3 of depreciation.  The average of those two is what gives you the 770 and when you open in '23, you just bring up that 765 to become your opening. I think that would fix the table and that gets run through.

MS. WALDING:  Kim, can you please open the application to make sure -- so we can show what was the closing number that Carly was reading out.

MS. WEINSTEIN:  The 765.9 would be your closing for '22, and that becomes your opening for '23.  And then you continue to depreciate that number and average the open and the close for each year.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you very much, that's very helpful.  Now a follow-up on that question.  Rather than having an opening rate base in 2023 of 770.4, but would be -- rather would be lower -- I guess 765.9, that would lower the rate base, correct, in each of the following years?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  One second.  Yes, you are correct.

MR. MURRAY:  Would that not just -- the over earnings displayed in this table, would that not make them larger because the rate base is lower, so therefore the over earnings is larger?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  I haven't redone the table to follow all the way through, so I'm not sure yet.

MR. MURRAY:  You agree it's a function of the return on equity divided by the rate base?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  Return on equity is a function of earnings and equity.  Yes, mathematically that makes sense.

MR. MURRAY:  And rate base, is it not?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  Yes, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  Perhaps now we can turn to table 10 --sorry, so other than that one issue identified by Ms. Weinstein, does NextBridge take any other issues with the math in tables 1 through 4?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  One through 4?  I don't believe so.  There is one other item to point out.  I believe it's more in Tables 5 and 6 where when we looked at that, it appears the taxes were coming from the SEC analysis and I wanted to be clear that when we discussed the SEC analysis on Monday, we had not fully agreed with every point of that analysis.

MR. SARDANA:  Mr. Murray, may I interrupt you with a quick question?  Hopefully this is a quick question, just a clarifying question.

On the previous table where in 2022, the math for depreciation is shown, my question is -- strictly speaking, that is not what NextBridge is seeking in its application.  It is seeking 9/12th proration of 2022 numbers.  Is that correct?

So really the 4.3 -- pardon me, the depreciation that's shown on that table, and I think that was Table 3, that should be closer to what's on table 5, I think.  Right.  So the 4.6 there, that's the half year rule.  But that's -- am I correct in asking that strictly speaking, NextBridge is seeking 9/12ths of the 2022 revenue requirement, of the full year's revenue requirement?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  Our test year is off a full year of depreciation of the 9.3, and then what we proposed to go into the ATR is essentially 9/12ths of that test year.  The 9/12ths of the depreciation is what would end up in the cost of service in the test year.

MS. WALDING:  To clarify also what Carly said, so we took a full year test year and that's why the table goes -- that's why the rates go over into 2023 on the previous application.  So it's a full year, and then we just prorated the full year's revenue requirement by 9/12ths.  We didn't do that to depreciation specifically to calculate the revenue requirement.  It was a full year of depreciation.

MR. SARDANA:  Thank you.

MS. WALDING:  Thank you.

MR. MURRAY:  If we can then turn if we can to tab 10 of the compendium.  Sorry, before we do, you mentioned the other issue, the SEC tax analysis.  Other than that the SEC tax analysis issue with the rate base in 2023, does NextBridge take any other issue with the math in tables 1 through 4?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  Formulaically, no.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you.  Turning to tabs 10 and 11 of Staff's compendium, what OEB Staff has done is calculated two approaches that would seek to establish a rate structure that would see NextBridge earn, on average, the 2021 OEB deemed rate -- deemed return on equity for the entire rate term.

So to start the focus on tab 10, so page 70 of the PDF.  At tab 10, what this proposal shows is that using a inflation factor of zero and a stretch factor of .5, this would result in revenue requirement defined by .5 percent each year.

I understand, Ms. Weinstein, you have some issues with the math here, so if you can please elaborate on those.

MS. WEINSTEIN:  What we previously pointed out on rate base would essentially impact the calculated returns here.

MR. MURRAY:  Sorry, go ahead.

MS. WEINSTEIN:  I was going to say nothing we hadn't already mentioned.  But as I mentioned, rate base and whatnot would ripple through all of the calculations.

MR. MURRAY:  And assuming I'm correct, it appears it would lower the rate base and therefore actually to use the term exacerbate the over earnings, potentially this would have the potential to actually increase the actual return of equity in the calculation.  Is that correct?

MS. WALDING:  Mr. Murray, we haven't done this calculation of this inflation factor and this stretch factor.  So I don't think we're able to opine on that.  This isn't a calculation that we've performed ourselves, so we cannot speak to that.

MR. MURRAY:  Perhaps we can come to something where we have the same numbers.  We all like the same numbers.

But if you look at the last row, it shows that using this approach -- subject to potential minor tweaks to adjust for rate base -- that on average over the nine year, nine month term, NextBridge would earn on average 8.37 percent.  Is that correct, what it says in the last line?

MS. WALDING:  That's what it shows on the last line, but I cannot speak to the accuracy of the calculations themselves.

MR. MURRAY:  Can we agree that if the OEB separates, that would allow NextBridge to earn an average rate of return on equity of 8.37 percent over the nine-year, nine-month term?  Can we agree that that would result in just and reasonable rates?

MS. WALDING:  I don't think that that's the application that we have applied for, Mr. Murray, so what we've applied for is an incentive rate structure such that there is an incentive for to us improve and be innovative during the ten-year time period, and so that is not the rate structure that we have requested, so I cannot speak to what might be viewed as just and reasonable, but I do -- can speak to, it's not what we applied for.

MR. MURRAY:  It's not what you applied for, but would you take the position is it just and reasonable or is it not just and reasonable?

MS. WALDING:  I would say, no, it is not just and reasonable, and the reason why I'm saying that is because you can see in 2023 that the return on equity you've calculated, if this is appropriate, if this is the right calculation, is below the authorized ROE, so I don't believe that that is just and reasonable, no.

MR. MURRAY:  But you would also agree that in other years it would be above the authorized ROE?

MS. WALDING:  There are other years that it is above, but I do not think that it is just and reasonable for the utility to be earning for four years below its authorized ROE in your example here.  I don't think that that's just and reasonable, and that's not what the utility is seeking to recover, is less than the authorized.

MR. MURRAY:  And you would agree over the ten years, assuming these numbers shake out and are accurate, over ten years you will earn 8.73 percent, which is above the current deemed return on equity?  Is that not --


MS. WALDING:  No, I think --


MR. MURRAY:  -- accurate, not true?

MS. WALDING:  No, that's not true.  And I'll go to past testimony that I have provided as well.  You have an inflation factor here built into your OM&A.  This is just a spreadsheet, and so you assume that everything is managed perfectly, and it's managed perfectly for a .02 percent ability to earn over, and so there's a lot of risk that is taken on an OM&A of this project for ten years.

So I would say, no, it's not just and reasonable, because it's not -- there's risk in the OM&A, and it is also not forecasted correctly.  Two -- I believe in your example you used 2 percent inflation was your assumption of the footnote 2, and that's just an assumption.  This is just a spreadsheet.  And so I don't believe that that is -- provides incentive for the utility to really manage their cost this closely.

MR. MURRAY:  Can we go to tab 11 now?  Can we go to PDF page 72?  Now, the approach Staff has taken in this Table 6 is different than what we approached in Table 5.  What we've done here is we've tried to separate OM&A from capital and apply different inflation factors for each of this.

So under this scenario capital would have zero inflation factor and a stretch factor of .75, and at the same time OM&A would be subject to an inflation factor of 2 percent and a stretch factor of .3 percent.

Before we debate the merits of this, Ms. Weinstein, other than the issue once again with the rate base, is there any other calculation of mathematical errors that you've identified which would be embedded in there?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  Outside from the rate base and then the previously mentioned tax calculation appeared it was from the SEC 7 analysis which we discussed Monday, formulaically I think the rest is slightly accurate.

MR. MURRAY:  And if you look at the last row -- don't focus on what the OM&A is, just look at the last row -- under this scenario it shows that the actual return on equity for NextBridge over this nine-year, nine-month term would be on average 8.35 percent, correct?

MS. WALDING:  That is what the number is.  As we mentioned, we can't speak to its accuracy.

MR. MURRAY:  Can we agree that if the OEB set a rate that allowed NextBridge to earn on average a return on equity of 8.35 percent over the nine-year, nine-month term, that that would result in just and reasonable rates?

MS. WALDING:  No, we cannot agree.  Once again, as you can see, there's multiple years that the utility is earning under its authorized ROE.  We do not believe that is just and reasonable.

MR. MURRAY:  Ms. Walding, do you take the position that NextBridge is entitled to be guaranteed to earn its -- the deemed rate of return each and every year of the nine-year, nine-month term?  Is that the position NextBridge takes?

MS. WALDING:  Definitely.  We do, because that is the authorized ROE for the OEB, and if we manage our cost to what we have proposed in our application, then I do believe we should earn our authorized ROE.

MR. MURRAY:  And if Staff or one of the intervenors who's creative with numbers was able to reach some sort of formula that saw NextBridge every single year of this nine-year, nine-month term earn 8.34 percent every single year based on certain assumptions, which NextBridge agreed with, if you were able to earn 8.34 percent every single year of nine year and nine months, would you take the position that that is a just and reasonable rate?

MS. WALDING:  What I would take the position of, Mr. Murray, is what we've put in our application, and what I have testified is that's not what we applied for.  That's a cost-of-service model, and cost-of-service model, typically the OMA is a pass-through.  And so I think it's unfair for NextBridge to take on all of the risk and there not be an incentive for us to get better and improve over the ten year, be innovative in trying to manage our cost, because in the cost-of-service model the OM&A cost, you do have to prove that they're prudent.  They are a pass-through, and so they're not as much risk exposed to utility.  And so there is risk here in the utility to manage to a minimal -- or a cost-of-service return, I will call it, and so that doesn't make the utility want to improve and want to innovate and want to get better, and that's what we want it to do in our cost -- in our incentive rate regulation that we have proposed.

MR. MURRAY:  So what I hear from that is -- I think we've heard this before, but just to confirm -- part of the reason why you feel it should be higher is because the risk with the OM&A; is that correct?

MS. WALDING:  I didn't say that.  I said what the reason why we've applied for incentive regulation is because we want to have the opportunity to get better and to improve your time, and by the end of this project over ten years we hope that we are in a really great position to be -- to provide great service to customers after that time period, and so we'll have been at that point through a full cycle of maintaining this line and all the -- all the right-of-way clearing life cycle, and Ms. Tidmarsh, I might ask you to talk a little bit more to this, but, you know, the whole full cycle of maintaining this line will be done during this ten-year period, and so we're going to be getting better at that through time, by the end of the period.  Ms. Tidmarsh.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Thank you, Ms. Walding.

So I think what Ms. Walding is talking about here is NextBridge will be incented -- our OM&A cost, we've mentioned before, is quite minimal.  We've kept it low.  But it's a goal for us.  And so NextBridge is incented over the ten-year term to be able to seek innovation.

So for example, we talked about our changes in the general plan -- our additions, so we've talked about bird deterrents, talked about right-of-way cameras, you know, becoming more efficient so that we don't have to send crews out all the time to go inspect, we can actually use right-of-way cameras.  We've talked a little bit about our Hydro One application and how that ends in three years or potentially five years and why we would do that, so we want to seek efficiencies at that time.  We want to go and find out perhaps that we go ahead and buy our own storage yards, right, that we don't use Hydro One storage yards because we can do that more efficiently.

So there are a lot of things that we plan on doing over this ten years to get better at operating the transmission line, just to fine-tune it so NextEra under NEET has quite a lot of experience when it comes to managing and operating transmission.  And so this is a new area of northwestern Ontario, and we're going to fine-tune it and seek efficiencies and become more effective and become more innovative over the life of the term, and the incentive for that is set out in this rate structure.  So we are incented to find those efficiencies, as opposed to just letting our OM&A increase and pass right through, so we have to manage -- manage the whole line.  Thank you.

MR. MURRAY:  Ms. Tidmarsh -- sorry --


DR. ELSAYED:  Mr. Murray, if I may interject.  We are significantly over time.  How much more time do you think you need?

MR. MURRAY:  I have one question on this and then I just have two or three questions on accounting.  So I'm hoping perhaps 15 or 20 minutes, maybe less if the answers are short.

MR. ELSAYED:  Okay, if you try to compress your time a little bit because the Commissioners have some questions as well, so please go ahead.

MR. MURRAY:  Understood.  Before we -- I just want to talk about one thing.  It's not clear to me as to how NextBridge is not incented by the scenario under Table 6.  Under this scenario, if you can be innovative and reduce OM&A costs, that is money you get to keep.  It's not clear and perhaps you can explain how the proposal in Table 6 would not incentivize NextBridge to lower or become more efficient with its OM&A.

MR. VEGH:  I'm sorry, Panel, I think we've been through this argument a few times over the last few days, and Staff and SEC have gone through an exercise of trying to reverse-engineer a rate of return based on their assumptions around OM&A and risk.

And my understanding is that is not at all in line with the Board's framework for incentive regulation.  The Board doesn't typically try to reverse-engineer a rate of return to incentive regulation.

The goal here is to provide incentive, provide cost certainty, and I don't know whether this debate is really worth continuing here.  If Staff wants to take a position in its submissions that the Board should depart from current incentive regulation policy and instead go to every utility and have them reverse engineer a rate of return for the next ten years, they can take that position.

But I don't see the value in continuing this debate.

MR. MURRAY:  In light of Mr. Vegh's statements, I'm quite happy to just move on.  As I said, I would like to move on and just discuss a couple of issues on the accounting matters.

And for this, I ask that we pull up tab 18 of Staff's compendium.  I was hoping I had the page number, but I seem to have forgotten the page number of the actual page I'm looking at.  So it's tab 18 and I'm looking at the chart that appears on page 125 of the PDF, table 1 at the top.

I would like to confirm the -- as I understand it, there are three components you want the CCVA.  The first is the difference between actual and forecast construction costs; I don't want to talk about that.

Second is cost -- post in-service date construction cost.  That's what I want to talk about here, and the third thing is COVID.

On the second thing, the issue of post in-service construction cost, when you discuss that, are you referring to the cost essentially here, the 1.419 million, is that what you're referring to?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Ms. Weinstein can answer that question and we can pass it off for more information, if necessary.

MS. WALDING:  Can you clarify that question?  That was lot of information, Mr. Murray, so can you summarize that for us?

MR. MURRAY:  The second component, the post in-service cost variance aspect of the CCVA, that aspect is referring to what these costs are, these 1.4 million dollars in post environmental remediation cost.  That's the second reason why they say they need to see the CCVA for, for these, 1.419 million dollars in cost, is that correct?

MS. WALDING:  I don't see -- I don't think that's the terminology we use.  I just want to clarify that.  That's not the terminology.  So just to seek to clarify that, if we can turn to where we said the three factors were, I want to make sure we are all on the same page first.

Ms. Weinstein, which page should we go back to to show the three --


MS. WEINSTEIN:  It's in the compendium.  The one I think is being referred to starts on page 124, just above this.  I also wanted to point out that 1.4 million is an example and an estimate.

MS. WALDING:  They're the three components we talked about here?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  On the prior page, sorry, that the 123 are the first two, which is the difference in forecast construction and actual construction.  The second is the COVID-19, direct results of COVID.

The third one, if we scroll to page 124, is directly related costs associated with construction, which is the environmental costs as a result of commitments and the overall benefit permit, or the amended EA for construction monitoring and mitigation.

MS. WALDING:  I want to make sure, Mr. Murray, we were all talking about the example that we're using, and the table below is in reference to this third item Ms. Weinstein just read out.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you very much.  That's what I meant to say, but clearly my words are escaping me at this juncture of the day.

This 1.419 million dollars in environmental costs, are these currently in the 737 construction budget?  I thought the anticipates was yes, based on the previous page, in the bullets.

If you can go up -- I'm not trying to test anyone's memory.  So if you go to the previous page -- sorry, so page 124 of the compendium, so the previous page.

And if you look at the top, four lines down starting "i.e. environmental mitigation costs of one million dollars that were included in construction cost", I'm just trying to figure out are these post-environmental construction costs?  Are they already accounted for in the 737 number?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  Yes, I believe that reads -- if you start right before the parentheses, it's things that are not already included in construction, and the parentheses gives you an example of the mitigation costs of a million that are in construction.

So we're working to bifurcate that.  There are some costs in the construction, and the million-dollar example is there.  But what we're talking about using the variance account for is costs that are not part of construction, a.k.a. the 737.

MS. WALDING:  So we have a pretty good handle on what we need do for that one million that was included.  What we don't -- what is unknown, I will say, until we actually go out and do some environmental monitoring, is whether the amount that might be after that.

So this is the initial amount and we included it.  But as you can see through that example that we provided, we have an estimate of what those potential mitigations may be needed through that time period.  But those mitigations will continue for ten years, and they are very highly dependent on exactly what happens around the environmental monitoring that goes on of what those costs are.

That's why we are trying to explain it as an estimate.

MR. MURRAY:  So fair to say that right now, there's one million dollars, but you're anticipating at least 1.4 million in terms of what might likely result over the next -- and probably more over the next ten years?

MS. WALDING:  Go ahead, Ms. Weinstein.

MS. WEINSTEIN:  To clarify, the 1.4 is an estimate and as Ms. Walding was saying, these are slightly unknown and highly variable which is why we don't have a number to tie around it right now, so they can get any of our cost requirements now.

And Mr. Raffenberg can help explain why we can't put a number on these requirements.

MR. RAFFENBERG:  Can you all hear me?  I testified yesterday about the overall benefits permit and some of the activities related to moving caribou, as an example.  So there are still some unknowns, and we continue to work with the ministries and the Michipicoten First Nation to get our hands around those unknowns.

But some of the variables include when there is enough animals to actually move, whether there is the right number of females or males, whether there's predators.  We need a good winter that has opportunity to freeze in and around the island we're going to move the animals, so we can chase the animals on the ice and actually capture them.

So there's a lot of variables.  And we can't predict today when we'll first move the animals.  And then, as was mentioned, we have requirements to monitor in year 5 and year 10 specifically to understand how moving those animals have benefited the populations.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you for that.  I have two discrete questions about COVID, the COVID aspects of this application.  If we can go to tab 22.  And you'll see in the footnote number 4, this is the quarterly report that was prepared for NextBridge for the end of 2020, so it's the most recently quarterly report that you filed with the Board with respect to your cost and budget, and if you look at footnote 4, you've indicated that there's 400,000 dollars of COVID costs that you've currently identified.

And so I guess the first question I have is, that 400,000 dollars, is that gross or is that net of any government subsidies that would apply?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So I can answer that question.  NextBridge has not applied for any government subsidies nor has it received any government subsidies when it comes to COVID costs.

MR. MURRAY:  Have you explored any of those subsidies?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I'm not aware of any subsidies that would apply to NextBridge.

MR. MURRAY:  And with respect to those 400,000 dollars in costs, have those costs been capitalized on NextBridge's audited 2020 audited financial statement?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Ms. Weinstein?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  Those costs would be sitting in [audio dropout] construction work and progress as an asset on the balance sheet.

MR. MURRAY:  And Ms. Weinstein, has NextBridge's auditor agreed that those costs should be capitalized?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  Yes, we filed our audited financials, I believe last week, in response to an Energy Probe interrogatory, so we do have our opinion for -- as of 2020, and these balances -- all of CWIP was audited by the -- our independent auditor.

MR. MURRAY:  And this is my last question.  Now, I understand NextBridge's position is that the COVID-related costs are capital costs met or the capital costs should be recorded in the CWIP and the associated revenue requirement should be recorded in CCVA, but in the event that the CCVA is not approved, is there any other reason or impediment for NextBridge to record the revenue-requirement impact of the COVID costs in 1509, which is the generic COVID account?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Ms. Weinstein?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  Can I just clarify, the way you are characterizing the treatment with the COVID cost incurred right now through our construction are still CWIP account 3055, but the revenue-requirement difference that would come up later once in-service, that is the component you're referring to should be in account 1509, correct?

MR. MURRAY:  Yes, and -- or both parts.  Is there any issue with -- like, to the extent -- is there some sort of reason why you cannot or should -- like, I understand you take the position that Board Staff says they shouldn't go there, but is there any other reason we need to know in terms of, if the CCVA -- is there any reason why they can't go in that account, assuming the Board and Board Staff say it's okay, is there any reason you have as to why they cannot or should not -- they cannot go in?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  And you're still just talking about the difference in revenue requirement?

MR. MURRAY:  Correct.

MS. WALDING:  Ms. Weinstein, I think you should speak to the accounting aspect of how the GAAP accounting treatment would be for those costs, if you could.

MS. WEINSTEIN:  Yes, so if we're just talking about the construction costs right now, NextBridge does not have essentially an income statement, we don't have O&M or anything like that, we don't have earnings right now, so we would not have a difference in earnings to record in a deferred account, so at the moment all of our costs belong as a current asset such as CWIP.  At the point in time that we go in-service and then all of the CWIP becomes first PP&E, differences in revenue requirement or differences in earnings would make sense to be in a variance account for deferred earnings such as the CCVA we've proposed.

MR. MURRAY:  And if the Board was to ask you or order you or indicate to you that you should put in 1509, is there anything that they should be aware of in terms of why -- I appreciate you say they did better within the CCVA, but is there -- is there a problem in terms of your ability to recover them if they were to be in the 1509?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  It's not what we proposed, and I think we would have to review that and any implications of it on the accounting to fully answer that question.

MR. MURRAY:  Okay.  Thank you very much for your time, panel, and those are all my questions.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you, Mr. Murray.  As I mentioned, the Commissioners have some questions, so I will now go to Mr. Sardana first.
Questions by the Board:

MR. SARDANA:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  My questions primarily relate to NextBridge's proposed debt financing.  Other parties in this proceeding have asked questions of NextBridge largely around what I would characterize the term structure of NextBridge's upcoming debt financing, and NextBridge has provided some good explanations as to why it was practical to issue debt in tranches, and of course as we knew in this application NextBridge is also seeking a debt rate variance account to track the difference in the application long-term and short-term debt rates that have been put in versus the actual rates that you will incur when you go out to issue.

So I just need to get some better understanding of some of the alternatives that you may or may not have explored to date.  And the first question is, you mentioned that NextBridge is going to carry out a private placement for its debt.

Did NextBridge also consider accessing public debt capital markets and, if not, why not?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Ms. Walding can answer this question.

MS. WALDING:  Yes, we did look at that, and the private placement generally gets us more favourable terms.  And so that is why we had chose that.  And the private placement will be with multiple different lenders, it's not just one lender, so there will be a competition of rates that will be -- that will occur, and that's how we will establish which financing we will select based off of the competition that will occur.

MR. SARDANA:  Thank you.  And did NextBridge also explore amortizing debt structures, or are you looking into that as opposed to simply looking at debt tranches?  So as you know, in an amortizing structure, principal and interest payments are made, and, you know, there are some 

-- perhaps some benefit to exploring things like that to match what I call a generally declining rate base.  You know, alternatively, you know, an amortizing structure could carry a lot of rate rebasing and so on.

Did NextBridge explore those kinds of things as well?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, we do explore those kind of things.  So we will look at the whole, you know, requirements of the amount of debt that's required at the time, and we will take that into account as an option as well, and we'll go through a very detailed analysis of what is the lowest cost for customers of that debt rate, and we will also, when we come back forward with the disposition of the debt rate variance account, we will also be ready to prove the prudency of the decisions that we made to ensure it was the lowest cost.

MR. SARDANA:  Okay.  And thank you for that.  And I guess finally as an alternative to, you know, the debt rate variance account, has NextBridge explored an interest rate hedge strategy for an upcoming debt issue?  I realize, of course, that you don't have your credit rating at this point, and it is early in the game, but have you looked at rate loss or bond forwards or anything like that to lock in, you know, what was probably the lowest rates that we're going to see in a very long time and those rates, of course, now starting to back up again.  I'm just wondering if you looked at that?

MS. WALDING:  So there's -- under our partnership agreements we have to have -- there are certain qualifications that we have to have.  One of the things that makes it difficult for us to do that in the partnerships that we have is that when -- we are at a partnership level right now where NextBridge -- NextEra has 50 percent and OMERS and Enbridge both have 25 percent.

And so when the LP buys in, the actual ownership percentages change, and so NextEra will get around 40 percent, and then the rest of the owners will have 20 percent.

And so in order -- we're waiting to do our financing such that our organizational structure is in place, such that the owners of the project are the ones making the decisions about the financing, so it's difficult for the three partners now to make a decision that impacts the fourth partner who hasn't bought in yet, and so, no, we are not currently pursuing that because of the partnership arrangement.

MR. SARDANA:  Thank you for that.  I think, Mr. Chair, one final question.  Has NextBridge also explored the use of one time update to its revenue requirement as other applicants have done?  We've talked about B2M and NRLP, and both of those parties did do that.  They did a one-time update to their revenue requirements once they had their actual debt issues done.  Has NextBridge explored that as an alternative to a variance account?

MS. WALDING:  So that -- I think that's very similar to what we're asking for in the debt rate variance account, so it would be a one-time update.  We did delay it for a period of time to make sure we had all the audited financials ready, so that's why we asked for the disposition in the second year.  And so that is why we proposed it as a variance account instead, because we have multiple different variance accounts.

MR. SARDANA:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions, Mr. Chair.

MR. ELSAYED:  Thank you, Mr. Sardana.  Ms. Duff?

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I have two areas of questions.  The first is I'm going to feed off of Commissioner Sardana here.

I am trying to understand a few details about the proposal what happens next after this oral phase of the hearing.  So over the next nine years and nine months, this annual process by which your revenue requirement will be increased by inflation, how do you see that happening?  Do you envision applying to the OEB?

MS. WALDING:  We would include it as part of our annual update is what we had envisioned.

MS. DUFF:  Is it a separate application the Board would have to hear?

MS. DUFF:  No, we would expect the inflation would be -- would be on this hearing is what we've proposed, and that then it would be applied in the annual updates after it's approved through this process.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  In year two, assuming there is a balance in these variance accounts and NextBridge seeks to have them disposed, I'm trying to understand what's going to be involved in that application.  If I'm understanding it correctly, you will have revenue -- for the CCVA, you will have a revenue requirement impact you'll look to dispose.  Have I got that right?

MS. WALDING:  That's correct, yes.

MS. DUFF:  Is any kind of update to rate base in the continuity schedules required on a go forward basis?  Because that will -- if that's approved capital, you'll only have -- I am questioning if that's going to be a variance from the years that have elapsed.  Perhaps you can explain that.

MS. WALDING:  Yes.  So it will be the years that have passed, but also apply as you're indicating to years going forward because the rate base balance will be different as we're indicating for the forward years as well.

MS. DUFF:  How do you envision that you'll accomplish that?  Are you looking that Board would then approve a change in the rate base at that time, just assuming this all goes according to as you propose?

MS. WALDING:  We would see it as an incremental.  So what we're trying to do here is just establish the base framework, and then any other updates to the rates would be an incremental update.  So we wouldn't go back and change this rate, but it would be done as a -- rate rider would be the term.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, I didn't appreciate that earlier.  Finally, during the nine years and nine months, does Enbridge consider it will have an option to come in and rebase early if, for whatever reason, it chose to?

MS. WALDING:  No.  Under the framework that we've provided, we would not come in early under the framework we've provided.

MS. DUFF:  So that is not an option, given the custom IR that you proposed?

MS. WALDING:  That is not an option that we sought, no.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, thank you.  The next area of questions I have is just regarding the fact that today is the last day of the oral hearing, and we now know with some certainty regarding when the record will close with reply submissions on May 7, the second week of May.

NextBridge has been filing these quarterly construction updates in the leave-to-construct proceeding that was EB-2017-0182.  What's your intention for filing the next construction update status report?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We intend to file the next one -- it should be -- I believe April 22nd is our next update, so we will be filing that one as our first quarter, and then continuing throughout the construction period we will continue to file our quarterly updates.

MS. DUFF:  As a decision maker here, should I be concerned with that information being filed after submissions are filed and while the Board is deliberating.  Do you have any concerns regarding that requirement for NextBridge?

MR. VEGH:  Ms. Duff, as I understand the procedural law in this area, it is that the record can remain open and subject to change until a decision is made.  For example, if you're in your deliberations and you would look to hear further submissions on something, then you can direct that you receive the further submissions or require further information.

So I think the record in that sense as you're describing can be made technically open until a decision is made.  At that point, it becomes too late to change it unless there's grounds for review.

MS. DUFF:  That's helpful.  Ms. Tidmarsh, you mentioned April 20 is fast approaching.  Right now, the evidence before the Board is consistent with these construction updates you've provided.  There is nothing you're aware of today that would be a surprise?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I was going to say there's no surprises coming in the April 22nd quarterly report, no.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  Finally, there were a number of documents, and I want to make sure I have a complete list of the ones that perhaps outstanding, or just not filed yet.

In your interrogatory responses, there were some expectations at that time regarding when you would file them.  And you also used the phrase that you'll file them when they're available.  So I want to have a complete list and understand what your intentions are as of today.

We talked earlier in the proceeding regarding the SLA with Hydro One and Supercom, and I believe you were saying that you're expecting that to be available after a Board of Directors meeting with Hydro One.  Did I hear that correctly?  That was about the May time frame.

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.  The Hydro One Supercom service level agreement will be taken to Hydro One's Board in May, and we expect that to executed shortly after.

MS. DUFF:  Were you planning to file that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  The next one -- I have a little list here and hope you can complete it for me -- was the CCRA, the customer connection cost recovery agreement. What's the status of that, and what's your intention?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Mr. Mayers, can you remind me about that one, please?

MR. MAYERS:  I think we're shooting for the third quarter of 2021.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  I believe there is a maintenance service agreement, and this is in addition to the SLA.  Have I got that right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  There is another agreement.  There is the NEET agreement, so there is the Hydro One service level agreement, then the NEET service level agreement, and I think that might be the one you're speaking of.

MS. DUFF:  Let's talk about the NEET one.  What is your expected date and what is your intention with respect to that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We intend to file that within the next month.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, thank you.  And the last one that I had was there's -- I will describe it as a protocol document for unplanned outages, that was the detailed steps to be taken in an emergency situation.  Is that another document that is yet to be filed?  Perhaps you can explain.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Mr. Mayers, can you discuss that one?

MR. MAYERS:  Yeah, that's the connection facilities agreement between NextBridge and HONI, and that is more of an operational document that allows the two operating groups to negotiate on how they're going to communicate, how they're going to report to each other, just how they're going to, you know, coordinate activities, because we own the line and they own the -- control the breakers that control that line, so there is going to be a negotiated document that will set the accountabilities for both groups.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, and that actually leads to my last question.  When the service -- when this line goes in-service as far as NextBridge is concerned, what documentation do you think you'd be needing to file with the OEB to say we're in-service and our -- the UTRs, uniform transmission rates, in Ontario should apply to us?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yeah, I can start that answer.  Mr. Mayers can add to it.  So at the end of commissioning for the line, NextBridge -- there's a third-party independent engineering study that's put together, and that actually at that point will delineate the end of commissioning has been done.

Mr. Mayers, do you want to add to that?

MR. MAYERS:  Not much more to say.  There -- yeah, there will be a final report, and then we have all the final agreements between NextBridge and our contractor, and then we'll officially agree on the final terms and COD date and file that.

MS. DUFF:  Where the --


MS. TIDMARSH:  Ms. -- so Ms. Duff I think was looking for what we would be filing with the Ontario Energy Board, and that would be the independent third-party engineering report is what we'll be filing with the Ontario Energy Board to show that the line is in-service and in use and useful.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  And that other document, the protocol for unplanned outages and that connection plate, would that be encompassed with that?  I just wondered where that fits in.

MS. TIDMARSH:  I believe we're getting -- I believe that document is going to be done earlier, sooner than the actual in-service date, and we intend to file that at the time it's done.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  That's great.  Thank you.  Mr. Chair, those are my questions.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thanks, Ms. Duff.  My questions relate primarily relate to the capital costs for the project.  So I just want to refer to some of the facts first.

I thought the estimated capital cost for the project is approximately 737 million; is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  The construction costs for the project, 737 million, yes, that's correct.

DR. ELSAYED:  And I also thought I heard that 90 percent of the construction work has been contracted?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, 90 percent of our construction work has been contracted.

DR. ELSAYED:  Is that one contract?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No, that's multiple contracts.  Some of them are with the general contractor, Valard, we've talked about.  Other contracts are for work in our -- with our land services group or environmental group or -- and other examples.

DR. ELSAYED:  Now, there was a reference to fixed-price contracts.  Was that made in relation to the Valard contract?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, the Valard contract is a fixed-price contract.

DR. ELSAYED:  Can you explain what you mean by a fixed-price contract?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I can begin, and Mr. Mayers can supplement.  So the Valard fixed-price contract has risks and responsibilities that are assigned to Valard and to perform under an envelope of costs, and so if there are any risks that materialize, so for example Valard would take on the risk of finding appropriate access roads, and if they couldn't find appropriate access roads, any extra costs that would take to find those access roads, Valard would bear them as part of a fixed-price contract, so those costs would not be passed on to NextBridge or the ratepayers, so that fixed-price contract has a whole bunch of responsibilities that Valard must complete for the cost that they bid forward.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  And so what I'm hearing is that it is a fixed price obviously for a certain scope, and if there's anything that happens beyond that scope then it is not covered by the fixed price; is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct, and in fact, one of the scopes that had changed was the in-service date, so we had worked with Valard, and our original agreement with them was for December of 2020 in-service date.  During our leave-to-construct hearings that in-service date moved to 2021, and so as part of that Valard was eligible to alter the in-service date and included that in our contingency funding as well, so we've managed any of those additions or outside of scope work as part of the costs already.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  And I also thought I heard that approximately as of now 60 percent of the cost has been spent?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Approximately 60 percent, yes, that's correct.

DR. ELSAYED:  Do I assume from that that about 60 percent of the work has been completed?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No, that's not correct.  So one of the reasons that 60 percent of the costs have been spent are because NextBridge has obviously pre-ordered all of the materials, so NextBridge has all the materials and has put out payments for those.  NextBridge has also put out payments for securing land rights in order to do construction, in order to secure environmental permits to do construction, to engage with Indigenous communities, so those are upfront costs that NextBridge has spent that don't track to the amount of construction that's actually happening at the same time.

DR. ELSAYED:  Sorry, maybe I didn't express the question correctly.  When I say 60 percent of the work I meant spent 60 percent of the cost.  Does that mean that 60 percent of the work scope has been completed?

MS. TIDMARSH:  The work scope.  Yes, that would track the work scope as opposed to the actual physical construction.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  Which leads me -- well, maybe one question first.  When we say 90 percent of work has been contracted, do you know roughly what other components represent the other 10 percent are yet to be contracted?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, so those other costs are essentially labour costs or costing that are under a threshold to be contracted, so costs that don't necessarily have a third-party contractor as part of them, so those would be labour costs, or anything as part of our procurements that are under -- our procurement policy has an under 100,000 dollar threshold, so any of those are small -- small contracts or that may show up between now and in-service and labour costs.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  You did mention contingency.  Can you tell me how much contingency was an initial 737 million dollar cost estimate?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So as part of our original 737 million dollar cost there was 49 million dollars approximately in contingency.  Ms. Weinstein, can you confirm that number for me, please.

MS. WEINSTEIN:  Yup, it was 49.399 million in the original leave-to-construct budget.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Thank you.

DR. ELSAYED:  And how much of that has been spent?

MS. TIDMARSH:  At this point in time we've spent all of our contingency.

MS. WALDING:  Well, Jen -- or Ms. Tidmarsh, just to clarify, we've allocated out of the contingency to where we expect that to occur, and so not all of it is spent, but we have allocated it in our spend as well as go-forward budget.

DR. ELSAYED:  So I just want to understand what you mean by allocated.  Are these allocated to specific risks that have materialized, or can you explain a little bit more what you mean by allocated?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Ms. Weinstein can do that, so one of -- I'll start it off, but we've taken our contingency and allocated that to certain budgets in our forecast that we have noted a risk or a cost and that we think that contingency will cover that cost.  Ms. Weinstein.

MS. WEINSTEIN:  Yup, so we simply undertook the rebudgeting effort after the leave to construct was awarded and all of these activities began being contracted with firm values, we took the contingency out of the line item of contingency and moved it into the line items where those dollars would actually be spent, we could probably track, monitor, and record those costs in the same bucket, so it was essentially an alignment exercise to move the dollars where we project them to actually be spent based on our contracts and to fund activities.

MS. WALDING:  We can provide you the quarterly report that we discussed the detail.  We outlined the numbers and where it was allocated to.  So, Ms. Weinstein, would you mind providing that quarterly report just so we have that as a reference?

MS. WEINSTEIN:  Sure.  So a detailed explanation of this allocation filed February 12, 2020, in response to the Q4 of the 2019 quarterly report.  So the initial allocation was shown in the 2019 quarterly reports, and we responded with a detailed breakdown of where those dollars moved to and from in our February 12, 2020, response.

MS. TIDMARSH:  That is part of our application and it can be found in Exhibit C, tab 1, Schedule 1, attachment 4.

MR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  So from what I'm hearing then, if there are any unanticipated risks that materialize between now and in-service date, do I take that to mean there is remaining contingency for that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  At this point in time, we have allocated our contingency.  However, when we reach our in-service date, we will true-up our costs and in some cases there may be some ups and downs.  And so if there are any cost savings from other disciplines as part of our forecast, we can allocate some of those funds to some unknown events.

MR. ELSAYED:  So overall, I heard the term that there is no uncertainty in the project a number of times.  So based on that discussion we just had, can you explain to me what this means, because I'm not sure if what I'm hearing indicates that the likelihood of overspend on this project is zero?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So NextBridge itself has no uncertainty.  So we have a fully designed fully project.  We have all of our major environmental permits that are needed.  We have all our major land rights secured.  We have all the things we need to construct the project, and we have been constructing it.

The uncertainties that would arise are things that NextBridge does not know.  So for example, we talked a little bit about if there was a storm and a tower came down because Mother Nature and northern Superior is very difficult.

So if a tower comes down, that's an uncertainty and NextBridge at this point wouldn't know where that was, so that's an uncertainty.  But NextBridge is certain on all the things that are part of its control, that it will be making the March 31, 2022, in-service date and its cost of the 737.

MR. ELSAYED:  Does that mean then -- what you're suggesting is that any potential over expenditures would be for elements that are beyond NextBridge's control?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So any additional -- we talked about will go into construction cost variance account would be pandemic related costs of COVID.  Those are beyond NextBridge's control -- well, the pandemic is.

However, NextBridge is still prudently managing its COVID related costs, and we talked earlier about working with our general contractor to ensure that those costs are being spent appropriately.  So anything that would end up in the construction cost variance account are things that NextBridge does not know at this point in time.

MR. ELSAYED:  I don't want to belabour the point, but I want to understand the distinction between what NextBridge does not know right now and what NextBridge has no control over.

MS. TIDMARSH:  And I think what I'm trying to say -- and maybe I'm not sure of your question, but the difference is that if it's something that's unknown, NextBridge has no control over it happening because -- but if it's something that's unknown that could happen, NextBridge has a lot of certainty in the project that has reduced some of those known unknowns -- I'm not sure that's a term, but the known unknowns NextBridge, because of all its design and permitting and work it's been doing over the past eight years has very few known unknowns.

DR. ALSAYED:  Okay.  I think these are all my questions.  Thank you very much.  So now, Mr. Vegh, do you have any redirect for your group?

MR. VEGH:  I do have some short re-examination.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I wonder if I can quickly raise something?  In Commissioner Duff's questions, she asked about the quarterly reports that are still to come, and what the status of those reports is, et cetera.

It seems to me there is a unique situation that arises, because they are not on the record in these proceedings.  They are actually on the record in the leave-to-construct proceeding, as they are a condition of that.

And I would ask that the Board require, or NextBridge simply agrees that quarterly reports would also now be filed on the record in this proceeding, so that --especially the next ones, so the parties have that on the record in time for their submissions.

MR. VEGH:  I can respond to that.  My understanding is that the quarterly reports that have been filed in the leave-to-construct proceeding have been incorporated into this proceeding, and NextBridge would be prepared to continue do that, to file quarterly reports in this proceeding as Mr. Rubenstein suggested, if the Panel would like that.

MR. ELSAYED:  We will follow up on that, and I would agree that future reports should be on the record for this proceeding.

Okay.  Back to you, Mr. Vegh.
Re-Examination by Mr. Vegh:


MR. VEGH:  Thank you.  Ms. Walding, I have some questions for you and they tie into the discussion that you just had with Commissioner Sardana about the debt financing, and they tie back to the discussion we had during the cross-examination over the last few days around the SEC 7 proposal.

We discussed that again this afternoon, so you're familiar with that, as well as the Board Staff at pages -- in their compendium at tabs 10 and 11 with different scenarios on rate making.

And to tie these to the debt financing discussion by asking you a few questions about scenarios that could arise under the implementation of the SEC 7 proposal, or any proposals considered by Board Staff.

My first question if the Board were to adopt the SEC 7 proposal or the Staff proposals discussed this afternoon, can you advise the Panel what impact, if any, you believe that would have on NextBridge's credit rating?

MS. WALDING:  Yes, that would negatively affect NextBridge's credit rating, and therefore would result in lower -- I mean higher financing cost.  And that would be passed on to customers when we did the true-up to our debt rate variance account.

MR. VEGH:  And under that scenario, do you have any sense now on what would be the actual impact on the cost of NextBridge's debt as it seeks to obtain from financial institutions under those scenarios?

MS. WALDING:  No, I do not.

MR. VEGH:  If the Board were to adopt the SEC 7 proposal or the Board Staff proposals that we discussed, what impact if any do you believe that would have on the ability of ELP to buy in as an equity partner?

MS. WALDING:  They would -- as I understand it, you know, it would be part of their application for their financing as well, and, you know, it would definitely result in lower funds that they have to pay back that debt, and so I could imagine that it would be viewed similarly to the way that a credit rating is viewed for a customer, and so it would also impact them as well in the same way.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you.  And you mentioned earlier in your testimony -- and correct me if I'm wrong, but I believe your testimony was that you had familiarized yourself with the various policy documents and some decisions of the Board that addressed the framework for incentive regulation; is that right?

MS. WALDING:  That's correct.

MR. VEGH:  And in your opinion is the SEC 7 proposal or the ones put forward by Board Staff consistent with the Board's incentive rate-making framework as you understand it?

MS. WALDING:  No, it is not consistent with the incentive framework because it does not provide any incentive to the utility to get better or be more innovative on their costs.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you.

Mr. Russo, I have a couple of questions for you coming out of your discussion with Mr. Lawrence (sic) today.  Mr. Lawrence started his cross-examination by pointing out that some of the transmission facilities that you compared in your benchmarking study operate in different jurisdictions.  Do you recall that?

MR. RUSSO:  Yes, I do.

MR. VEGH:  And he pointed out to you that -- and I think you agreed -- that different jurisdictions had different things like labour laws, environmental laws, et cetera; is that right?

MR. RUSSO:  I recall that line of cross.

MR. VEGH:  And you addressed the relevance of that, but I just wanted to get a sense, is the fact that these lines are in different jurisdictions unique to this case or have you done benchmarking studies in the past where you've come across this scenario before?

MR. RUSSO:  No, it's quite common to have to compare projects in multiple jurisdictions.  Again, in a perfect world there would be a large number of identical Ontario projects from which to choose, but that's rarely the case, and so whether it's benchmarking transmission lines, nuclear power plants, or substations, it is almost universal or extremely common to have to choose projects from multiple jurisdictions from which to compare.

MR. VEGH:  And in your professional opinion, what impact, if any, does the fact that these facilities operate in different jurisdictions have on the effectiveness of a benchmarking study?

MR. RUSSO:  There are -- there's some uncertainty introduced, but I believe it is relatively small, and in fact, to that point, we can look at studies such as the WECC study that was conducted which incorporated not only Canadian projects, but also U.S. projects, across a very wide geographical area, and found similarities and reasonable comparisons, so to me the fact that these projects exist in multiple jurisdictions doesn't affect the accuracy of the comparison whatsoever.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you, witnesses.  I have no further re-examination, and just before I do say goodbye, on behalf of NextBridge I would like to ask Board Staff for their excellent work in organizing this virtual hearing.  I think it worked quite well.  And in particular I would also like to thank Board Staff and the intervenors for their hard work and flexibility to make this a productive hearing under trying circumstances.  And thank you, Commissioners.  That's the case presented for NextBridge.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you, Mr. Vegh.  I want to reiterate your sentiments by thanking everybody for participating in this hearing.  I would also be remiss if I didn't thank all the people working behind the scenes to make this oral hearing run as smoothly as it did.

The next steps we discussed earlier, and as I mentioned, we will be issuing a procedural order with the dates as mentioned.  So this brings this oral hearing to a close.  Everybody have a good day and we are adjourned.  Thank you very much.
--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 3:23 p.m.
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